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We have reviewed the Independent Auditor’s Report of thel_ucas Loca School District,

Richland County, prepared by Moore, Stephens, Apple, for the audit period July 1, 1999 through
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required by Section 117.11, Revised Code. The Auditor of State did not audit the accompanying
financia statements and, accordingly, we are unable to express, and do not express an opinion on
them.

Our review was made in reference to the applicable sections of legidlative criteria, as reflected by
the Ohio Constitution, and the Revised Code, policies, procedures and guidelines of the Auditor
of State, regulations and grant requirements. ThelLucas Loca School District is responsible for
compliance with these laws and regulations.

JM PETRO
Auditor of State

January 10, 2002
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Report of Independent Auditors

To the Board of Education
Lucas Local School District
Lucas, Ohio 44843

We have audited the accompanying general purpose financial statements of the Lucas
Local School District as of and for the year ended June 30, 2000. These general purpose
financial statements are the responsibility of the Lucas Local School District's
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these general purpose
financial statements based on our audit. '

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the general purpose financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the general purpose financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall general purpose financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the general purpose financial statements referred to above present fairly,
in all material respects, the financial position of the Lucas Local School District as of June
30, 2000 and the results of its operations and cash flows of its proprietary fund types and
nonexpendable trust fund for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report
dated November 22, 2001 on our consideration of the Lucas Local School District's
internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grants.

Hoorne Steptens »pple

Akron, Ohio
December 22, 2001
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LUCAS LOCAL SCHOOL DISTRICT
RICHLAND COUNTY, OHIO

COMBINED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

ALL GOVERNMENTAL FUND TYPES AND EXPENDABLE TRUST FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2000

Fiduciary
Governmental Fund Types Fund Type Lo
Special Debt Capital Expendable (Memorandum
General Revenue Service Projects Trust Only)
Revenues: '
From local sources:
TaXES . . . . o i e $1,309,286 $55,123 $1,364,409
Tuition . ................. 64,260 64,260
Earnings on investments. . . . ... ... 91,553 $706 $386 $161 92,806
Extracurricular . . . ......... ... 128,224 128,224
Other localrevenues. . . . ... ..... 34,577 1,193 12,661 1,450 49,881
Otherrevenue. . . .............. 2,000 : 2,000
Intergovernmental - State. . . . ... ... 1,985,221 109,387 5,295 24,000 2,123,903
Intergovernmental - Federal . . . . . . .. 1,397 70,867 72,264
Totalrevenue . . . .. ......... 3,486,294 312,377 60,418 37,047 1,611 3,897,747
Expenditures:
Current:
Instruction:
Regular . . . . ............. 1,394,666 13,344 24,423 1,432,433
Special . . .. .............. 252,213 42,039 294,252
Vocational . . . ............. 122,181 1,200 123,381
Other. . . . ............... 58,064 58,064
Support services
Pupil .................. 96,760 8919 105,679
Instructional staff . . .. ........ 158,881 56,625 1,282 801 217,589
Board ofeducation. . .. ........ 12,224 12,224
Administration. . ... ......... 495,148 30,909 526,057
Fiscal. . . .. .............. 155,553 24 2,169 157,746
Operations and maintenance. . . . . . . 350,208 350,208
Pupil transportation . . . . ....... 289,558 289,558
Central. . . . .............. 13,443 5,123 18,566
Community services . . . . .. ..... 5,709 5,709
Extracurricular activities . . . . .. ... 126,569 91,675 218,244
Facilities aquisition and construction. . . . 775 775
Debt service:
Principal retirement. . . . ... ...... 75,379 75,379
Interest and fiscal charges . . . . ... .. 11,832 11,832
Total expenditures. . . . . ....... 3,531,177 248,658 89,380 26,480 2,001 3,897,696
Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over (under) expenditures . . . . . . . (44,883) 63,719 (28,962) 10,567 (390) 51
Other financing sources:

Proceeds from sale of fixed assets . . . 5,987 5,987
Total other financing sources . . . . . . 5,987 5,987
Excess (deficiency) of revenues and

other financing sources over (under)

expenditures . . . .. ......... (38,896) 63,719 (28,962) 10,567 (390) 6,038

Fund balances, July 1. . . . ........ 1,004,629 57,274 88,408 60,698 4329 1,215,338
Increase in reserve for inventory . . . . . . . 3,044 3,044
Fund balances, me 30. . . . .. ... ... $968,777 $120,993 $59,446 $71,265 $3,939 $1,224 420

THE NOTES TO THE GENERAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ARE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THIS STATEMENT
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LUCAS LOCAL SCHOOL DISTRICT
RICHLAND COUNTY, OHIO
COMBINED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES
AND CHANGES IN RETAINED EARNINGS/FUND BALANCE
ALL PROPRIETARY FUND TYPES AND NONEXPENDABLE TRUST FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2000

Fiduciary
Proprietary Fund Types Fund Type
Total
Internal Nonexpendable (Memorandum
Enterprise Service Trust Only)
Operating revenues:
Tuitionandfees . . . ............. $15,679 $15,679
Sales/charges forservices . . . .. ...... 130,760 $268,098 398,858
Investmenteamings . . . ........... $1,748 1,748
Other operating revenues. . . . ... ..... 10,000 10,000
Total operating revenues . . . .. ... ... 146,439 268,098 11,748 426,285
Operating expenses:
Personal services . . .. ........... 73,022 73,022
Contract Services . . . . .. ... ... ... 1,693 72,800 74,493
Materials and supplies . . . . . e e 94,584 114 " 94,698
Depreciation . . . . .. ............ 2,055 2,055
Claimsexpense . ............... 123,381 123,381
Other operating expenses. . . . . .. ..... 1,193 4334 500 6,027
Total operating expenses . . . . ....... 172,547 200,629 500 373,676
Operating income (loss) . . . ... ....... (26,108) 67,469 11,248 52,609
Nonoperating revenues:
Operatinggrants . . . ............. 26,042 26,042
Federal commodities . . . . .......... 12,094 12,094
Interestrevenue. . . . . .. ... ....... 1,100 1,100
Other nonoperating revenues. . . . . ... .. 1,987 1,987
Total nonoperating revenues . . . ... ... 39,236 1,987 41,223
Netincome . . . ............... 13,128 69,456 11,248 93,832
Retained earnings/fund balance, July 1 . . . . . 26,904 73,874 25,438 126,216
Retained earnings/fund balance, June 30 . . . . $40,032 $143,330 $36,686 $220,048

THE NOTES TO THE GENERAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ARE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THIS STATEMENT



LUCAS LOCAL SCHOOL DISTRICT
RICHLAND COUNTY, OHIO
COMBINED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

ALL PROPRIETARY FUND TYPES AND NONEXPENDABLE TRUST FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2000

Fiduciary
Propri I 1011
Internal Nonexpendable  (Memorandum
Enterprise Service Trust Only)
Cash flows from operating activities:
Cash received from tuition and fees/other . . . . . . $15,846 $10,000 $25,846
Cash received from sales/service charges . . . . . . 131,436 $262,654 394,090
Cash payments for personal services. . . . ... .. (74,625) (74,625)
Cash payments for contract services . . . . . . ... (1,770) (72,800) (74,570)
Cash payments for materials and supplies . . . . . . (81,528) (114) (81,642)
Cash payments for claims expenses . . . . ... .. (152,490) (152,490)
Cash payments for otherexpenses. . . ... ... . (1,116) (4,334) (500) (5,950)
Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities. . . . . ... ......... (11,757) 32916 9,500 30,659
Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:
 Cash received from operating grants . . . ... .. 25,966 25,966
Cash received from other noncapital financing
activities . . . .. ... ... ..., 1,987 1,987
Net cash provided by noncapital
financing activities. . . . .. ........... 25,966 1,987 27,953
Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Aquisition of capitalassets. . . . .......... . (4,200) (4,200)
Net cash used in capital and related
financing activities. . . . ... .......... (4,200) (4,200)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Interestrecetved. . . . . ... ............ 1,100 1,748 2,848
Net cash provided by investing activities . . . . . . 1,100 1,748 2,848
Net increase in
cashandcashequivalents. . . .. .......... 11,109 34,903 11,248 57,260
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year . . . . 25,199 185,321 25,438 235,958
Cash and cash equivalents atend of year . . . . . .. $36,308 $220,224 $36,686 $293,218

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net
cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Operating income (10ss) . . . . .. ......... ($26,108) $67,469 $11,248 $52,609
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to
net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation. . . .................. 2,055 2,055
Federal donated commodities. . . ... ...... 12,094 12,094
Interest reported as operating income. . . . . . . . (1,748) (1,748)
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Decrease in materials and supplies inventory . . . 2,183 2,183
Decrease in accounts receivable . . . . . ... .. 843 843
Increase in accountspayable . . . .. ....... 34 34
Decrease in accrued wages and benefits. . . .. . (1,387) (1,387)
Increase in compensated absences payable . . . . 417 417
Decrease in pension obligation payable . . . . . . (633) (633)
Decrease in claims payable. . . . ......... (29,109) (29,109)
Decrease in deferredrevenue. . . . ... ... .. (1,255) (5,444) (6,699)
Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities . . . ... ............ ($11,757) $32,916 $9,500 $30,659

THE NOTES TO THE GENERAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ARE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THIS STATEMENT



LUCAS LOCAL SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2000
NOTE 1 - DESCRIPTION OF THE SCHOOL DISTRICT

The Lucas Local School District (the “District”) is a body politic and corporate
established for the purpose of exercising the rights and privileges conveyed to it by the
constitution and laws of the State of Ohio.

The District ranks as the 583™ largest by total enrollment among the 660 public and
community school districts in the State. The District operates under a locally-elected
five-member Board form of government and provides educational services as authorized
by its charter and further mandated by state and/or federal agencies. This Board controls
the district’s four instructional/support facilities staffed by 34 classified and 47
certificated full-time teaching personnel who provide services to 637 students and other
community members.

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The general purpose financial statements (GPFS) of the District have been prepared in
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to
governmental units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the
accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial
reporting principles. The District also applies Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB) Statements and Interpretations issued on or before November 30, 1989, to its
proprietary activities provided they do not conflict with or contradict GASB
pronouncements. The District's significant accounting policies are described below.

A. Reporting Entity

The District's reporting entity has been defined in accordance with GASB Statement
No. 14, “The Financial Reporting Entity”. When applying GASB Statement No. 14,
management has considered all potential component units. The basic, but not the
only, criterion for including a potential component unit within the reporting entity is
the Board's ability to exercise significant oversight responsibility. The most
significant manifestation of this ability is financial interdependence.  Other
manifestations of the ability to exercise oversight responsibility include, but are not
limited to, the selection of the governing authority, the designation of management,
the ability to significantly influence operations, and the accountability for fiscal
matters.




LUCAS LOCAL SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2000
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (Continued)

A second criterion used in evaluating potential component units is the scope
of public service. Application of this criterion involves considering whether the
activity benefits the District and/or its citizens. A third criterion used to
evaluate potential component units for inclusion or exclusion from the
reporting entity is the existence of special financing relationships, regardless
of whether the District is able to exercise oversight responsibilities. Based
upon the application of these criteria, the District has no component units.
The following organizations are described due to their relationship with the
District:

JOINTLY GOVERNED ORGANIZATION

Heartland Council of Governments (the COG)

The COG (fka North Central Ohio Computer Cooperative) is a jointly
governed organization among 15 school districts and 1 county educational
service center. The COG was formed for the purpose of applying modern
technology with the aid of computers and other electronic technology to
administrative and instructional functions. Each member district supports the
COG based on a per pupil charge dependent upon the software package
utilized. The COG is governed by a Board of Directors consisting of
superintendents of the members school districts. The degree of control
exercised by any school district is limited to its representation on the Board.
In accordance with GASB Statement No. 14, the District does not have any
equity interest in the COG. Financial information can be obtained from the
treasurer for the Pioneer Career and Technology Center, who serves as fiscal
agent, at 27 Ryan Road, Shelby, Ohio 44875-0309.

PUBLIC ENTITY RISK POOL

Ohio School Boards Association Workers’ Compensation Group Rating Plan
The District participates in a group rating plan for workers’ compensation as
established under Section 4123.29 of the Ohio Revised Code. The Ohio
School Boards Association Workers’ Compensation Group Rating Plan (GRP)
was established through the Ohio School Boards Association (OSBA) as a
group purchasing pool.

The Plan’s business and affairs are conducted by a three member Board of
Directors consisting of the President, the President-Elect, and the Immediate
Past President of the OSBA. The Executive Director of the OSBA, or his
designee, serves as coordinator of the Plan. Each year, the participating
school districts pay an enroliment fee to the Plan to cover the costs of
administering the program.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS '

June 30, 2000
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (Continued)
B. Fund Accounting

The District uses funds and account groups to report its financial position and
the results of its operations. A fund is a separate accounting entity with a
self-balancing set of accounts. An account group, on the other hand, is a
financial reporting device designed to provide accountability for certain assets
and liabilities that are not recorded in the funds because they do not directly
affect net expendable available financial resources. Fund accounting is
designed to demonstrate legal compliance and to aid financial management
by segregating transactions related to certain school district activities or
functions. Funds are classified into three categories: governmental,
proprietary and fiduciary. Each category is divided into separate fund types.

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

Governmental funds are those through which most governmental functions of
the District are financed. The acquisition, use and balances of the District's
expendable financial resources and the related liabilities (except those
accounted for in proprietary funds or the nonexpendable trust fund) are
accounted for through governmental funds. The following are the District's
governmental fund types:

General Fund - The general fund is the general operating fund of the
District and is used to account for all financial resources except those
required to be accounted for in another fund. The general fund balance is
available to the District for any purpose provided it is expended or
transferred according to the general laws of the State of Ohio.

Special Revenue Funds - The special revenue funds are used to account
for the proceeds of specific revenue sources (other than expendable
trusts, or major capital projects) that are legally restricted to expenditures
for specified purposes.

Debt Service Fund - The debt service fund is used to account for the
accumulation of resources for, and the payment of, general long-term debt
principal, interest, and related costs.

Capital Projects Funds - The capital projects funds are used to account for
financial resources to be used for the acquisition of construction of major
capital facilities (other than those financed by proprietary funds or the
nonexpendable trust fund).
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June 30, 2000
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (Continued)
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

Proprietary funds are used to account for the District's ongoing activities
which are similar to those often found in the private sector where the
determination of net income is necessary or useful to sound financial
administration. The following are the District's proprietary fund types:

Enterprise _Funds - The enterprise funds are used to account for
operations (a) that are financed and operated in a manner similar to
private business enterprises--where the intent of the governing body is
that the costs (expenses, including depreciation) of providing goods or
services to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or
recovered primarily through user charges; or (b) where the governing body
has decided that periodic determination of revenues earned, expenses
incurred, and/or net income is appropriate for capital maintenance, public
policy, management control, accountability, or other purposes.

Internal Service Funds - The internal service funds are used to account for
the financing of goods and services provided by one department or
agency to other departments or agencies of the district, or to other
governments, on a cost-reimbursement basis.

FIDUCIARY FUNDS

Fiduciary funds are used to account for assets held by the District in a trustee
capacity or as an agent for individuals, private organizations, other
governmental units and/or other funds. These include a nonexpendable trust
fund, an expendable trust fund and an agency fund. The nonexpendable trust
fund is accounted for in the same manner as proprietary funds. The
expendable trust fund is accounted for in the same manner as governmental
funds. Agency funds are custodial in nature (assets equal liabilities) and do
not involve measurement of results of operations. The agency fund is
presented on a budget basis, with note disclosure, regarding items which, in
other fund types, would be subject to accrual. See Note 3 for an analysis of
the agency fund accruals which, in other fund types, would be recognized in
the combined balance sheet.
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June 30, 2000
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (Continued)
ACCOUNT GROUPS

To make a clear distinction between fixed assets related to specific funds and
those of general government, and between long-term liabilities related to
specific funds and those of general nature, the following account groups are
used. ‘

General Fixed Assets Account Group - This group of accounts is
established to account for all fixed assets of the District, other than those
accounted for in the proprietary or trust funds.

General Long-Term Obligations Account Group - This group of accounts is
established to account for all long-term obligations of the District, other
than those accounted for in the proprietary funds or the nonexpendable
trust fund.

C. Measurement Focus/Basis of Accounting

The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is
determined by its measurement focus. All governmental funds and the
expendable trust fund are accounted for using a current financial resources
measurement focus. With this measurement focus, only current assets and
current liabilities generally are included on the balance sheet. Operating
statements of these funds present increases (revenues and other financing
sources) and decreases (expenditures and other financing uses) in net
current assets.

All proprietary funds and the nonexpendable trust fund are accounted for on a
flow of economic resources measurement focus. With this measurement
focus, all assets and all liabilities associated with the operations of these
funds are included on the balance sheet. Proprietary fund type operating
statements present increases (revenues) and decreases (expenses) in net
total assets.
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June 30, 2000
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (Continued)

The modified accrual basis of accounting is followed for governmental funds
and the expendable trust fund. Under the modified accrual basis of
accounting, revenues are recognized when they become both measurable
and available to finance expenditures of the current period, which for the
District is sixty days after the June 30 year end. Revenues accrued at the
end of the year include taxes, (to the extent they are intended to finance the
current fiscal year), interest, and accounts (student fees and tuition). Current
property taxes measurable as of June 30, 2000, and which are intended to
finance fiscal 2000 operations, have been recorded as deferred revenues.
Delinquent property taxes measurable and available (received within 60 days)
are recognized as revenue. In proprietary funds, unused donated
commodities are reported as deferred revenue.

The District reports deferred revenue on its combined balance sheet.
Deferred revenues arise when a potential revenue does not meet both the
"measurable" and "available" criteria for recognition in the current period.
Deferred revenues also arise when resources are received by the District
before it has a legal claim to them, as when grant monies are received prior to
the recognition of qualifying expenditures. In subsequent periods, when both
revenue recognition criteria are met, or when the government has a legal
claim to the resources, the liability for deferred revenue is removed from the
combined balance sheet and revenue is recognized.

Expenditures (decreases in net financial resources) are recognized in the
period in which the fund liability is incurred with the following exception:
general long-term obligation principal and interest are reported only when
due; and costs of accumulated unpaid vacation and sick leave are reported
as expenditures in the period in which they will be liquidated with available
financial resources rather than in the period earned by employees.

The proprietary funds and nonexpendable trust fund are accounted for on the
accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenues
are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities
are incurred. The fair value of donated commodities used during the year is
reported in the operating statement as an expense and a like amount is
reported as donated commodities revenue.
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June 30, 2000

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (Continued)

D. Budgets
The District is required by state statute to adopt an annual appropriated cash
basis budget for all funds. The specific timetable for fiscal year 2000 is as
follows:

1.

Prior to January 15 of the preceding year, the Superintendent and
Treasurer submit to the Board of Education a proposed operating budget
for the fiscal year commencing the following July 1. The budget includes
proposed expenditures and the means of financing for all funds. Public
hearings are publicized and conducted to obtain taxpayers' comments.
The expressed purpose of this budget document is to reflect the need for
existing (or increased) tax rates.

By no later than January 20, the board-adopted budget is filed with the
Richland County Budget Commission for tax rate determination.

Prior to April 1, the Board of Education accepts, by formal resolution, the
tax rates as determined by the Budget Commission and receives the
Commission's Certificate of Estimated Resources which states the
projected revenue of each fund. Prior to June 30, the District must revise
its budget so that total contemplated expenditures from any fund during
the ensuing year will not exceed the amount stated in the Certificate of
Estimated Resources. The revised budget then serves as a basis for the
appropriation measure. On or about July 1, the Certificate is amended to
include any unencumbered balances from the preceding year as reported
by the District Treasurer. The Certificate may be further amended during
the year if projected increases or decreases in revenue are identified by
the District Treasurer. The amounts reported in the budgetary statement
reflect the amounts set forth in the final Amended Certificate issued for
fiscal year 2000.

By July 1, the annual appropriation resolution is legally enacted by the
Board of Education at the fund level of expenditures, which is the legal
level of budgetary control. (State statute permits a temporary
appropriation to be effective until no later than October 1 of each year.)
Although the legal level of budgetary control was established at the fund
level of expenditures, the District has elected to present budgetary
statement comparisons at the fund and function level of expenditures.
Resolution appropriations by fund must be within the estimated resources
as certified by the County Budget Commission and the total of
expenditures and encumbrances may not exceed the appropriation totals.
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (Continued)

5. Any revisions that alter the total of any fund appropriation must be
approved by the Board of Education.

6. Formal budgetary integration is employed as a management control
device during the year for all funds consistent with the general obligation
bond indenture and other statutory provisions. All funds completed the
year within the amount of their legally authorized cash basis appropriation.

7. Appropriation amounts are as originally adopted, or as amended by the
Board of Education through the year by supplemental appropriations
which either reallocated or increased the original appropriated amounts.
All supplemental appropriations were legally enacted by the Board during
fiscal 2000.

8. Unencumbered appropriations lapse at year end. Encumbered
appropriations are carried forward to the succeeding fiscal year and need
not be reappropriated. Expenditures plus encumbrances may not legally
exceed budgeted appropriations at the fund level.

Encumbrance accounting is utilized with District funds in the normal
course of operations, for purchase orders and contract related
expenditures. An encumbrance is a reserve on the available spending
authority due to commitment for a future expenditure and does not
represent a liability. = For governmental fund types, encumbrances
outstanding at year end appear as a reserve to the fund balance on a
GAAP basis and as the equivalent of expenditures on a non-GAAP
budgetary basis in order to demonstrate legal compliance. Note 15
provides a reconciliation of the budgetary and GAAP basis of accounting
and Note 12 discloses encumbrances outstanding for the enterprise funds
at fiscal year end.

E. Cash and Investments

To improve cash management, cash received by the District is pooled.
Monies for all funds, including proprietary funds, are maintained in this pool.
Individual fund integrity is maintained through the District’'s records. Each
fund’s interest in the pool is presented as “Equity in Pooled Cash and Cash
Equivalents” on the combined balance sheet.
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (Continued)

During fiscal year 2000, investments were limited to nonnegotiable certificates
of deposit, a repurchase agreement and investments in the State Treasury
Asset Reserve of Ohio (STAR Ohio). Except for nonparticipating investment
contracts, investments are stated at fair market value which is based upon
quoted market prices. Nonparticipating investment contracts such as
nonnegotiable certificates of deposit and repurchase agreements are reported
at cost.

STAR Ohio is an investment pool managed by the State Treasurer's Office
which allows governments within the State to pool their funds for investment
purposes. STAR Ohio is not registered with the SEC as an investment
company, but does operate in a manner consistent with Rule 2a7 of the
Investment Company Act of 1940. Investments in STAR Ohio are valued at
STAR Ohio’s share price which is the price the investment could be sold for
on June 30, 2000.

Under existing Ohio Statutes all investment earnings are assigned to the
general fund unless statutorily required to be credited to specific fund. By
policy of the Board of Education, investment eamings are assigned to the
general fund, the District Managed Activities special revenue fund, the
expendable trust fund, the nonexpendable trust fund, the Food Service
enterprise fund, and the Permanent Improvement capital projects fund. The
following funds were credited with more interest revenue than would have
been received based upon their share of the District's investments during

fiscal 2000:
Interest Interest Based
Actually upon Share of Interest Assigned
Received Investments by Other Funds
General Fund $91,553 $62,015 $29,538
Enterprise Funds
Food Service 1,100 ‘ 1,032 68

For purposes of the combined statement of cash flows and for presentation
on the combined balance sheet, investments of the cash management pool
and investments with original maturities of three months or less at the time
they are purchased by the District are considered to be cash equivalents.
Investments with an initial maturity of more than three months are reported as
investments.

An analysis of the Treasurer's investment account at year end is provided in
Note 4.
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (Continued)
F. Inventory

Inventories for all governmental funds are valued at cost (first-in/first-out
method). The purchase method is used to account for inventories. Under the
purchase method, inventories are recorded as expenditures when purchased;
however, material amounts of inventories at period end are reported as

. assets of the respective fund, which are equally offset by a fund balance
reserve which indicates they are unavailable for appropriation even though
they are a component of reported assets.

Inventories of proprietary funds consist of donated food, purchased food, food
service paper and janitorial supplies and are valued at the lower of cost (first-
in/first-out method) or market and expensed when used rather than when
purchased.

G. Fixed Assets and Depreciation
1. General Fixed Assets Account Group

General fixed assets are capitalized at cost or estimated historical cost.
Donated fixed assets are recorded at their fair market values as of the
date donated. The District follows the policy of not capitalizing assets with
a cost of less than $500. No depreciation is recognized for assets in the
general fixed assets account group. The District has not included
infrastructure in the general fixed assets account group.

2. Proprietary Funds

Equipment reflected in these funds are stated at historical cost or
estimated historical cost and updated for the cost of additions and
retirements during the year. Donated fixed assets are recorded at their
fair market values as of the date donated. Depreciation has been
provided, where appropriate, on a straight-line basis over the following
estimated useful lives:

Asset Life (years)
Furniture, fixtures and
equipment 5-20
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (Continued)
H. Intergovernmental Revenues

In governmental funds, entittements and non-reimbursable grants (to the
extent such grants and entitlements relate to the current fiscal year) are
recorded as receivables and revenue when measurable and available.
Reimbursement type grants are recorded as receivables and revenues when
the related expenditures are incurred. Other than commodities, grants and
entitlements for proprietary fund operations are recognized as non-operating
revenue when measurable and earned. The District currently participates in
various state and federal programs categorized as follows:

Entitlements
General Fund

State Foundation Program
State Property Tax Relief

Non-Reimbursable Grants

Special Revenue Funds

Education Management Information Systems
Title VI-B

Local Professional Development
Title |

Title VI

Venture Capital

SchoolNet Professional Development
Ohio Reads

Summer Intervention

Safe Schools Helpline

Title VI-Class Size Reduction

Capital Projects Funds
SchoolNet Plus

Proprietary Funds
Food Distribution Program
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Reimbursable Grants

General Fund

Driver Education Reimbursement
School Bus Purchase Reimbursement
Vocational Education Travel/Salary

Special Revenue Funds
Telecommunications

Proprietary Funds
National School Lunch Program
Government Donated Commodities

Grants and entitiements amounted to approximately 51% of the District's
operating revenue during the 2000 fiscal year.

I. Compensated Absences

Compensated absences of the District consist of vacation leave and sick
leave to the extent that payment to the employee for these absences are
attributable to services already rendered and are not contingent on a specific
event that is outside the control of the District and the employee.

In accordance with the provisions of GASB Statement No. 16, "Accounting for
Compensated Absences," a liability for vacation leave is accrued if a) the
employees' rights to payment are attributable to services already rendered;
and b) it is probable that the employer will compensate the employees for the
benefits through paid time off or other means, such as cash payment at
termination or retirement. A liability for severance is accrued using the
vesting method; i.e., the liability is based on the sick leave accumulated at the
balance sheet date by those employees who are currently eligible to receive
termination (severance) payments, as well as those employees expected to
become eligible in the future. For purposes of establishing a liability for
severance on employees expected to become eligible to retire in the future,
all employees age fifty or greater with at least ten years of service and all
employees with at least twenty years of service regardless of their age were
considered expected to become eligible to retire in accordance with GASB
Statement No. 16. -

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (Continued)
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The total liability for vacation and sick leave payments has been calculated
using pay rates in effect at the balance sheet date, and reduced to the
maximum payment allowed by labor contract and/or statute, plus any
applicable additional salary related payments.

J. Contributed Capital

Contributed capital is recorded in proprietary funds that have received capital
grants, or contributions from developers, customers, or other funds. These
assets are recorded at their fair market value on the date contributed.
Depreciation on those assets acquired or constructed with contributed
resources is expensed and closed to unreserved retained earnings at year
end.

K. Long-Term Obligations

Long-term debt is recognized as a liability of a governmental fund when due,
or when resources have been accumulated in the debt service fund for
payment early in the following year. For other long-term obligations, only that
portion expected to be financed from expendable available financial
resources is reported as a fund liability of a government fund. The remaining
portion of such obligations is reported in the general long-term obligations
account group.

Under Ohio law, a debt retirement fund must be created and used for the
payment of all debt principal interest. GAAP requires the allocation of the
debt liability among the general and the general long-term obligations account
group, with principal and interest payments on matured general long-term
debt being reported in the debt service fund. To comply with the GAAP
reporting requirements, the District's debt retirement fund has been split
among the appropriate funds and account group. Debt service fund
resources used to pay both principal and interest have also been allocated
accordingly.

Long-term liabilities expected to be financed from proprietary fund operations
are accounted for in those funds.
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L. Fund Balance Reserves/Designations

Reserved fund balances indicate that portion of fund equity which is not
available for current appropriation or is legally segregated for a specific use.
Designated fund balance indicates that portion of fund equity for which
management has an intended use of the resources. Designated fund balance
is not legally restricted by State statute. Fund balance is designated for
budget stabilization to the extent that monies have been set-aside above the
legal requirement (See Note 18). Fund balances are reserved for
encumbrances, prepayments, materials and supplies inventory, debt service,
tax revenue unavailable for appropriation, principal endowment, budget
stabilization and textbooks. Although the nonexpendable trust fund uses the
total economic resources measurement focus, the fund equity is reserved for
the amount of the principal endowment. The reserve for tax revenue
unavailable for appropriation represents taxes recognized as revenue under
GAAP but not available for appropriations under State statute. The
unreserved portions of fund equity reflected for the governmental funds are
available for use within the specific purposes of those funds.

M. Interfund Transactions

During the course of normal operations, the District may have numerous
transactions between funds. The most significant include:

1. Transfers of resources from one fund to another fund. The resources
transferred are to be expended for operations by the receiving fund and
are recorded as operating transfers, with the exception of agency funds,
which do not show transfers of resources as operating transfers. The
District made no operating transfers in fiscal year 2000.

2. Reimbursements from one fund to another are treated as
expenditures/expenses in the reimbursing fund and a reduction in
expenditures/expenses in the reimbursed fund. Quasi-external
transactions are accounted for as revenues, expenditures or expenses.

3. Short-term interfund loans and accrued interfund reimbursements and
accrued operating transfers are reflected as "interfund loans receivable or
payable". The District had no short-term interfund loans receivable or
payable at June 30, 2000.
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4. Long-term interfund loans that will not be repaid within the next year are
termed "advances" and are shown as reservations of fund balances on the
combined balance sheet for those funds that report advances to other
funds as assets because they are not spendable, available resources.
The District had no long-term advances receivable or payable at June 30,
2000.

N. Restricted Assets

Restricted assets in the general fund represent cash and cash equivalents set
aside to establish a budget stabilization and textbook reserve. These
reserves are required by State statute. The budget stabilization reserve can
be used only after receiving approval from the State Superintendent of Public
Instruction. See Note 18 for detail of statutory reserves.

O. Estimates

The preparation of the GPFS in conformity with GAAP requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the
GPFS and accompanying notes. Actual results may differ from those
estimates.

P. Prepayments

Prepayments for governmental funds represent cash disbursements which
have occurred and are therefore not current expendable resources. These
items are reported as fund assets on the balance sheet using the allocation
method, which amortizes their cost over the periods benefitting from the
advance payment. At period end, because prepayment is not available to
finance future governmental fund expenditures, the fund balance is reserved
by an amount equal to the carrying value of the asset.

Q. Memorandum Only - Total Columns

Total columns on the GPFS are captioned (Memorandum Only) to indicate
that they are presented only to facilitate financial analysis. Data in these
columns do not present financial position, results of operations, or changes in
financial position in conformity with GAAP. Neither is such data comparable
to a consolidation. Interfund eliminations have not been made in the
aggregation of this data.
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NOTE 3 - ACCOUNTABILITY AND COMPLIANCE
A. Deficit Fund Balances

Fund balance at June 30, 2000 included the following individual fund deficits:

Deficit Balance

Special Revenue Funds
Title | $87
Local Professional Development 2

These funds complied with Ohio state law, which does not permit a cash
basis deficit at year end.

The deficit fund balances in the Title | and the Local Professional
Development special revenue funds are caused by accruing wage and benefit
obligations in accordance with GAAP. These deficits will be eliminated by
intergovernmental revenues and other resources not recognized at June 30.

B. Agency Fund

The following are accruals for the agency fund, which, in another fund type,
would be recognized in the combined balance sheet:

ASSETS
Accounts receivable $2,554
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 779
Pension obligation payable 22
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NOTE 4 - EQUITY IN POOLED CASH AND INVESTMENTS

The District maintains a cash and investment pool used by all funds. Each fund
type's portion of this pool is displayed on the combined balance sheet as “Equity
in Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents”. Statutes require the classification of
monies held by the District into three categories:

Active deposits are public deposits necessary to meet current demands on the
treasury. Such monies must be maintained either as cash in the District treasury,
in commercial accounts payable or withdrawable on demand, including
negotiable order of withdrawal (NOW) accounts, or in money market deposit
accounts.

Inactive deposits are public deposits the Board of Education has identified as not
required for use within the current two year period of designation of depositories.
Inactive deposits must either be evidenced by certificates of deposit maturing not
later than the end of the current period of designation of depositories, or by
savings or deposit accounts including, but not limited to, passbook accounts.

Interim deposits are deposits of interim monies. Interim monies are those
monies which are not needed for immediate use but which will be needed before
the end of the current period of designation of depositories. Interim deposits
must be evidenced by time certificates of deposit maturing not more than one
year from the date of deposit or by savings accounts, including passbook
accounts.

Protection of the District’s deposits is provided by the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation (FDIC), by eligible securities pledged by the financial institution as
security for repayment, by surety company bonds deposited with the Treasurer
by the financial institution or by a single collateral pool established by the
financial institution to secure the repayment of all public monies deposited with
the institution.

Interim monies may be invested or deposited in the following securities:
1. United States Treasury Notes, Bills, Bonds, or any other obligation or security

issued by the United States Treasury or any other obligation guaranteed as to
principal or interest by the United States;
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2.

Bonds, Notes, Debentures, or any other obligations or securities issued by
any federal government agency or instrumentality, including but not limited
to, the Federal National Mortgage Association, Federal Home Loan Bank,
Federal Farm Credit Bank, Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation,
Government National Mortgage Association, and Student Loan Marketing
Association. All federal agency securities shall be direct issuances of
federal government agencies or instrumentalities;

Written repurchase agreements in the securities listed above provided that
the market value of the securities subject to the repurchase agreement must
exceed the principal value of the agreement by at least two percent and be
marked to market daily, and that the term of the agreement must not exceed
thirty days;

Bonds and other obligations of the State of Ohio;

No-load money market mutual funds consisting exclusively of obligations
described in division (1) or (2) of this section and repurchase agreements
secured by such obligations, provided that investments in securities
described in this division are made only through eligible institutions;

The State Treasury Asset Reserve of Ohio (STAR Ohio);

Certain bankers’ acceptances and commercial paper notes for a period not
to exceed one hundred and eighty days in an amount not to exceed twenty-
five percent of the interim monies available for investment at any one time;
and

Under limited circumstances, corporate debt instruments rated in either of
the two highest rating classifications by at least two nationally recognized
rating agencies.

Investments in stripped principal or interest obligations, reverse repurchase
agreements and derivatives are prohibited. The issuance of taxable notes for the
purpose of arbitrage, the use of leverage and short selling are also prohibited.
An investment must mature within five years from the date of purchase unless
matched to a specific obligation or debt of the District, and must be purchased
with the expectation that it will be held to maturity. Investments may only be
made through specified dealers and institutions. Payment for investments may
be made only upon delivery of the securities representing the investments to the
Treasurer or qualified trustee or, if the securities are not represented by a
certificate, upon receipt of confirmation of transfer from the custodian.
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The following information classifies deposits and investments by categories of

risk as defined in GASB Statement No. 3, "Deposits with Financial Institutions,
Investments and Reverse Repurchase Agreements."

Deposits: At year end, the carrying amount of the District's deposits, including
non-negotiable certificates of deposit, was $286,734 and the bank balance,
including non-negotiable certificates of deposit, was $391,724. Of the bank
balance:

1.  $370,436 was covered by federal depository insurance.

2. $21,288 was uninsured and uncollateralized. Although all statutory
requirements for the deposit of money has been followed, non compliance
with federal requirements could potentially subject the District held to a
successful claim by the FDIC.

Collateral is required for demand deposits and certificates of deposits in excess
of all deposits not covered by federal depository insurance. Obligations that may
be pledged as coliateral are obligations of the United States and its agencies,
obligations of the State of Ohio and its municipalities, and obligations of the other
states.

Obligations pledged to secure deposits must be delivered to a bank other than
the institution in which the deposit is made. Written custodial agreements are
required.

Investments: Investments are categorized to give an indication of the level of risk
assumed by the entity at year-end. Category 1 includes investments that are
insured or registered or securities held by the District. Category 2 includes
uninsured and unregistered investments for which the securities are held by the
counterparty’s trust department or agent in the District's name. Category 3
includes uninsured and unregistered investments for which the securities are
held by the counterparty or by its trust department, but not in the District’'s name.
Investments in STAR Ohio are not categorized as they are not evidenced by
securities that exist in physical or book entry form.

Category Reported Fair
3 Amount Value
Repurchase agreement $128,289 $ 128,289 $ 128,289
Investment in STAR Ohio 1,363,604 1,363,604
Total investments $ 1,491,893 $ 1,491,893
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NOTE 4 - EQUITY IN POOLED CASH AND INVESTMENTS - (Continued)

The classification of cash and cash equivalents and investments on the
combined balance sheet is based on criteria set forth in GASB Statement No. 9,
“Reporting Cash Flows of Proprietary and Nonexpendable Trust Funds and
Governmental Entities That Use Proprietary Fund Accounting.”

A reconciliation between the classifications of pooled cash and cash equivalents
and investments on the combined balance sheet (per GASB Statement No. 9)
and the classifications of deposits and investments presented above per GASB
Statement No. 3 is as follows:

Cash and Cash

Equivalents/Deposits Investments
GASB Statement No. 9 $ 1,778,627 $ 0
Investments of the cash
management pool:
Investment in STAR Ohio (1,363,604) 1,363,604
Repurchase Agreement (128,289) 128,289
GASB Statement No. 3 $ 286,734 $1,491,893

NOTE 5 - PROPERTY TAXES

Property taxes are levied and assessed on a calendar year basis. Distributions
from the second half of the calendar year occur in a new fiscal year and are
intended to finance the operations of that year. Property taxes include amounts
levied against all real, public utility and tangible (used in business) property
located in the District. Real property taxes and public utility taxes are levied after
November 1 on the assessed value listed as of the prior January 1, the lien date.
Assessed values are established by State law at 35% of appraised market value.

Public utility property taxes are assessed on tangible personal property, as well
as land and improvements. Real property is assessed at 35% of market value
and personal property is assessed at 100% of market value except for the
personal property of rural electric companies which is assessed 50% of market
and railroads which are assessed at 29%.
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NOTE 5 - PROPERTY TAXES - (Continued)

Tangible personal property taxes attach as a lien and are levied on January 1 of
the current year. Tangible personal property assessments are 25% of true value.
The assessed value upon which the 1999 taxes were collected was $54,965,520.
Agricultural/residential and public utility/minerals real estate represented 71.43%
or $39,264,020 of this total; commercial & industrial real estate represented
2.15% or $1,182,570 of this total, public utility tangible represented 24.91% or
$13,689,940 of this total and general tangible property represented 1.51% or
$828,990 of this total. The voted general tax rate at the fiscal year ended June
30, 2000 was $42.70 per $1,000.00 of assessed valuation for operations and
$1.00 per $1,000.00 of assessed valuation for debt retirement.

Real property taxes are payable annually or semi-annually. |f paid annually,
payment is due December 31; if paid semi-annually, the first payment is due
December 31 with the remainder payable by June 20.

The District receives property taxes from Richland and Ashland Counties. The
respective County Treasurers collect property taxes on behalf of the District. The
respective County Auditors periodically remit to the District its portion of the taxes
collected. These tax "advances" are based on statutory cash flow collection
rates. Final "settlements” are made each February and August.

Accrued property taxes receivable represent delinquent taxes outstanding and
real property, personal property and public utility taxes which became
measurable as of June 30, 2000. Although total property tax collections for the
next fiscal year are measurable, they are not (exclusive of advances) intended to
finance current year operations. The net receivable (total receivable less amount
available intended to finance the current year) is therefore offset by a credit to
deferred revenue. The amount available as an advance, and recorded as
revenue, at June 30, 2000, was $54,016 in the general fund and $1,480 in the
debt service fund.

Taxes available for advance and recognized as revenue but not received by the
District prior to June 30, 2000, are reflected as a reservation of fund balance for
future appropriations. The District is prohibited, by law, from appropriating this
revenue in accordance with ORC Section 5705.35, since an advance of revenue
was not requested or received prior to the fiscal year end.
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NOTE 6 - RECEIVABLES

Receivables at June 30, 2000 consisted of taxes, accounts (billings for user
charged services), accrued interest and intergovernmental grants and
entitlements (to the extent such grants and entitlements relate to the current
fiscal year). Intergovernmental receivables have been reported as “due from
other governments” on the combined balance sheet. All receivables are
considered collectible in full due to the ability to foreclose for the nonpayment of
taxes and the stable condition of State programs and the current year guarantee
of federal funds.

A summary of the principal items of receivables follows:

Amounts
General Fund
Taxes - current and delinquent $1,932,811
Due from other governments 2,400
Accrued interest 5,116
Accounts 10,296
Debt Service Fund
Taxes - current and delinquent 52,948
Enterprise Funds
Due from other governments 3,634

NOTE 7 - FIXED ASSETS

A summary of the changes in the general fixed assets account group during the
fiscal year follows:

Balance Balance
July 1, 1999 Increase Decrease June 30, 2000
Land/Improvements $ 48,875 $ --- $ --- $ 48,875
Buildings/improvements 3,018,889 --- --- 3,018,889
Furniture/equipment 667,100 78,047 (43,286) 701,861
Vehicles 466,089 56,054 (4,000) 518,143
Total $4,200,953 $134,101 $(47,286) $4,287,768

There was no significant construction in progress at June 30, 2000.
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NOTE 7 - FIXED ASSETS - (Continued)

A summary of the proprietary fixed assets at June 30, 2000 follows:

Furniture and equipment $ 80,155
Less: accumulated depreciation (65,299)
Net fixed assets $ 14,856

NOTE 8 - CONTRIBUTED CAPITAL

Changes in contributed capital for the year ended June 30, 2000 are summarized
by source as follows:

Food Service
Contributed capital, July 1, 1999 $ 1,500
Current contributions R

Contributed capital, June 30, 2000 1,500

NOTE 9 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS

The District has two long-term debt issues outstanding at June 30, 2000. These
debt issues represent a general obligation bond and an energy conservation
note.

During fiscal year 1998, the District issued a $53,785 energy conservation note
to provide for energy improvements to various District buildings. The primary
source of repayment of this note is through energy savings as a result of the
improvements. This note bears an interest rate of 4.75% and matures on
September 1, 2007.

Payments of principal and interest relating to these liabilities are recorded as
expenditures in the debt service fund. Unmatured obligations are accounted for
in the general long-term obligations account group.
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A. The following is a description of the District’s general obligation bond and
energy conservation note outstanding as of June 30, 2000:

Interest Maturity Outstanding Retired Outstanding
Rate Date  July 1, 1999 in 2000 June 30, 2000

General obligation
bond payable 5.50% 12/01/01  $210,000 $ (70,000) $ 140,000

Energy conservation
note payable 4.75% 09/01/07 __48,406 (5,379) 43,027

$258,406 $ (75,379) $ 183,027

B. The following is a summary of the District's future annual debt service
requirements to maturity for the general obligation bond and the energy
conservation note:

Fiscal Principal on Interest on
Year Ending Bond/Note Bond/Note Total
2001 $ 75,379 $ 7,719 $ 83,098
2002 75,379 3,610 78,989
2003 5,379 1,426 6,805
2004 5,379 1,167 6,546
2005 5,379 908 6,287
2006 - 2008 16,132 1,169 17,301
Total $183,027 $15,999 $199,026
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C. During the year ended June 30, 2000, the following changes occurred in
liabilities reported in the general long-term obligations account group.
Compensated absences and pension obligations will be paid from the fund in
which the employee is paid.

Balance Balance

July 1, 1999 Increase Decrease June 30, 2000
General obligation bond $210,000 $ --- $ (70,000) $140,000
Compensated absences 156,325 16,033 (18,148) 154,210
Pension obligation payable 43,162 43,138 (43,162) 43,138
Energy conservation note __ 48,406 --- (5,379) 43,027
Total $457,893 $59,171 $(136,689) $380,375

D. Legal Debt Margin

The Ohio Revised Code provides that voted net general obligation debt of the
District shall never exceed 9% of the total assessed valuation of the District.
The code further provides that unvoted indebtedness shall not exceed 1/10 of
1% of the property valuation of the District. The effects of these debt
limitations at June 30, 2000 are a voted debt margin of $4,866,343 (including
available funds of $59,446) and an unvoted debt margin of $54,966.

NOTE 10 - COMPENSATED ABSENCES

The criteria for determining vested vacation and sick leave components are
derived from negotiated agreements and State laws. Classified employees earn
five to twenty days of vacation per year, depending upon length of service.
Accumulated unused vacation time is paid to classified employees upon
termination of employment. Administrators who are contracted to work 260 days
in a year are given fifteen to twenty days of vacation per year by contract. Any
unused vacation days at the end of the contract are forfeited. The only exception
is the Superintendent who can carry over up to ten days at the end of his
contract, and the Treasurer who can carry over up to five days at the end of her
contract. Teachers do not earn vacation time.
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Administrators, teachers, and classified employees earn sick leave at a rate of
one and one-fourth days per month. Sick leave may be accumulated up to 220
days. Upon retirement, payment is made to employees with ten or more years of
service at the District for twenty-five percent of the total sick leave accumulation
with a maximum of 40 days payment.

During fiscal year 2000, the District adopted a one-time exit bonus for all part-
time employees with a minimum of ten consecutive years of experience with the
District. Part-time employees who elect this exit bonus must retire with the
retirement system. Upon retirement, the exit bonus will be calculated on a
formula of twenty-five percent of the first 120 days of accrued sick leave. The
exit bonus is calculated using the scheduled daily rate of pay at the time of
retirement. For those part-time who have accrued sick leave beyond 120 days,
the following additional formula will apply:

Accumulated sick Exit bonus shall Total exit
leave be increased by: bonus days

130 - 139 days 1 additional day 31
140 - 149 days 2 additional days 32
1560 - 150 days 3 additional days 33
160 - 169 days 4 additional days 34
170 - 179 days 5 additional days 35
180 - 189 days 6 additional days 36
190 - 199 days - 7 additional days 37
200 - 209 days 8 additional days 38
210 - 219 days 9 additional days 39

> =220 days 10 additional days 40

The maximum exit bonus days that any employee can earn is forty.
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NOTE 11 - RISK MANAGEMENT
A. Property, Fleet, and Liability Insurance

The District is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, theft of,
damage to, and destruction of assets; errors and omissions; injuries to
employees; and natural disasters. During fiscal year 2000, the District
retained property insurance coverage in the blanket amount of $13,447,574
with 90% coinsurance, replacement cost endorsement and a $1,000
deductible. Boiler and machinery coverage is also included in with the
blanket coverage in the amount of $5,757,190 with a $1,000 deductible. The
District also has inland marine floaters in the amount of $1,050,000 with a
$250 deductible for coverage of audio visual equipment, two way radios,
tractors, musical instruments and uniforms.

Vehicles are covered by a policy through Nationwide/Wausau Insurance
Companies which provides for a $50 deductible for comprehensive and a
$250 deductible for collision. Vehicle liability has a $2,000,000 combined
single limit of liability.

Nationwide/Wausau Insurance Companies alsb provide general liability
coverage with a $2,000,000 single occurrence limit and an aggregate of
$5,000,000 with no deductible.

B. Employee Dishonesty Bonds

The District carries employee dishonesty bonds for the Treasurer,
Superintendent, and Board President in the amount of $20,000. Also an
employee blanket dishonesty bond in the amount of $5,000 is provided to
cover all other employees of the District.

C. Worker’'s Compensation

The District participates in the Ohio School Boards Association Workers’
Compensation Group Rating Program (GRP), an insurance purchasing pool
(see Note 2.A.). The GRP’s business and affairs are conducted by a three
member board of directors consisting of the President, the President-Elect
and the Immediate Past President of the Ohio School Boards Association.
The Executive Director of the OSBA, or his designee, serves as coordinator
of the program. Each year, the participating school districts pay an
enroliment fee to the GRP to cover the costs of administering the program.
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The intent of the GRP is to achieve the benefit of a reduced premium for the
District by virtue of its grouping and representation with other participants in
the GRP. The worker's compensation experience of the participating school
districts is calculated as one experience and a common premium rate is
applied to all school districts in the GRP. Each participant will then either
receive money from or be required to contribute to the "Equity Pooling Fund".
This "equity pooling" arrangement insures that each participant shares
equally in the overall performance of the GRP. Participation in the GRP is
limited to school districts that can meet the GRP’s selection criteria. The firm
of Gates McDonald & Co. provides administrative, cost control, and actuarial
services to the GRP.

D. Employee Group Life, Medical, Dental, and Vision Insurance

The District provides life insurance and accidental death and dismemberment
insurance to all regular contracted employees through Anthem Benefit
Administrators Inc. in the following amounts: full-time employees $25,000,
administrators $50,000, and part-time grandfathered employees $10,000.

The District has elected to provide a comprehensive medical benefits
package to the employees through a self-insured program. The District
maintains a self-insured internal service fund to account for the finances of its
uninsured risks of loss in this program. This package provides a
comprehensive medical plan with a $275 single and $375 family deductible
($100 single and $200 family deductibles for administrators). A third party
administrator, Anthem Benefits Administrators Inc., located in Columbus,
Ohio, reviews all claims for the medical plan which are then paid by the
District. The District purchases stop-loss coverage of $20,000 per individual
and an aggregate limit of $288,955 from Cox Insurance Group. The total
monthly premium paid into the internal service fund for the medical plan is
$184 for single coverage and $456 for family coverage which is paid out of
the same fund that pays the salary for the employee. The District's amounts
are capped by negotiated union contracts and cannot be increased except
throughout negotiations. The employee monthly portion of the premium is
$18 for single coverage and $46 for family coverage which is withheld from
their biweekly payroll. The employees are responsible for payment of all
claim amounts in excess of the employer capped amounts.
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The District provides dental coverage for its employees on a self-insured
basis through Anthem Benefits Administrators Inc. The total monthly
premium is $28 for single and family coverage. This premium is paid by the
District. Like the medical premium, this amount is also capped by negotiated
union contracts and cannot be raised except through negotiated agreement.
The employees are responsible for payment of all claim amounts in excess of
the employer capped amounts.

The above employee portions of premiums for medical and dental insurance
are for full-time employees. Grandfathered part-time employees also have
medical and dental insurance benefits.

The claims liability of $59,905 reported in the fund at June 30, 2000, is based
on the requirements of GASB Statement No. 10, "Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Risk Financing and Related Insurance Issues," as amended by
GASB Statement No. 30, "Risk Financing Omnibus," which requires that a
liability for unpaid claims costs, including estimates of costs relating to
incurred but not reported claims, be accrued at the estimated ultimate cost of
settling the claims. Changes in claims activity for the past two fiscal years are

as follows:
Beginning
Fiscal Year of Year Claims Payments End of Year
2000 $89,014 $123,381 $(152,490) $59,905
1999 22,016 373,834 (306,836) 89,014
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NOTE 12 - SEGMENT INFORMATION - ENTERPRISE FUNDS
The District maintains three enterprise funds to account for the operations of food
service, uniform school supplies and farm operations. The table below reflects,
in a summarized format, the more significant financial data relating to the
enterprise funds of the District as of and for the year ended June 30, 2000.

Food Uniform School Rotary

Service Supplies Farm Total

Operating revenue $130,760 $15,679 $ --- $146,439
Operating expenses

before depreciation 156,077 13,893 522 170,492
Depreciation 2,055 S --- 2,055
Operating income (loss) (27,372) 1,786 (522) (26,108)
Operating grants 26,042 --- --- 26,042
Net income (loss) 11,864 1,786 (522) 13,128
Net working capital 12,427 11,414 2,835 26,676
Total assets 43,116 11,731 2,835 57,682
Total liabilities 15,833 317 --- 16,150
Contributed capital 1,500 --- --- 1,500
Total equity | 27,283 11,414 2,835 41,532
Encumbrances

at 06/30/00 --- 384 --- 384
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A. School Employees Retirement System

The District contributes to the School Employees Retirement System of Ohio
(SERS), a cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan
administered by the School Employees Retirement Board. SERS provides
retirement and disability benefits, annual cost-of-living adjustments, and death
benefits to plan members and beneficiaries. Authority to establish and amend
benefits is provided by Chapter 3309 of the Ohio Revised Code. SERS
issues a publicly available, stand-alone financial report that includes financial
statements and required supplementary information. The report may be
obtained by writing to the School Employees Retirement System, 45 North
Fourth Street, Columbus, Ohio 43215-3634, or by calling (614) 222-5853.

Plan members are required to contribute 9 percent of their annual covered
salary and the District is required to contribute 14 percent for 2000; 5.55
percent was the portion to fund pension obligations. The contribution rates
are not determined actuarially, but are established by the School Employees
Retirement Board within the rates allowed by State statute. The adequacy of
the contribution rates is determined annually. The District's required
contributions to SERS for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2000, 1999 and
1998 were $86,340, $80,370, and $77,578, respectively; 41 percent has been
contributed for fiscal year 2000 and 100 percent for the fiscal years 1999 and
1998. $50,928, representing the unpaid contribution for fiscal year 2000, is
recorded as a liability within the respective funds and the general long-term
obligations account group.

B. State Teachers Retirement System

The District contributes to the State Teachers Retirement System of Ohio
(STRS), a cost-sharing, multiple-employer public employee retirement system
administered by the State Teachers Retirement Board. STRS provides
retirement and disability benefits, annual cost-of-living adjustments, and death
and survivor benefits to plan members and beneficiaries. Authority to
establish and amend benefits is provided by Chapter 3307 of the Ohio
Revised Code. STRS issues a publicly available, stand-alone financial report
that includes financial statements and required supplementary information.
The report may be obtained by writing to the State Teachers Retirement
System, 275 East Broad Street, Columbus, Ohio 43215-3771, or by calling
(614) 227-4090.
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B. State Teachers Retirement System — (Continued)

Plan members are required to contribute 9.3 percent of their annual covered
salary and the District is required to contribute 14 percent; 6 percent was the
portion used to fund pension obligations. Contribution rates are established
by the State Teachers Retirement Board, upon recommendation of its
consulting actuary, not to exceed statutory maximum rates of 10 percent for
members and 14 percent for employers. The District’s required contributions
to STRS for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2000, 1999, and 1998 were
$235,153, $224,723, and $214,012, respectively; 82 percent has been
contributed for fiscal year 2000 and 100 percent for the fiscal years 1999 and
1998. $42,016, representing the unpaid contribution for fiscal year 2000, is
recorded as a liability within the respective funds.

NOTE 14 - POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

The District provides comprehensive health care benefits to retired teachers and
their dependents through the State Teachers Retirement System (STRS), and to
retired non-certified employees and their dependents through the School
Employees Retirement System (SERS). Benefits include hospitalization,
physicians’ fees, prescription drugs, and reimbursement of monthly Medicare
premiums. Benefit provisions and the obligations to contribute are established by
the Systems based on authority granted by State statute. Both systems are
funded on a pay-as-you-go basis.

The State Teachers Retirement Board has statutory authority over how much, if
any, of the health care costs will be absorbed by STRS. Most benefit recipients
pay a portion of the health care cost in the form of a monthly premium. By Ohio
law, the cost of coverage paid from STRS funds shall be included in the
employer contribution rate, currently 14 percent of covered payroll. For this fiscal
year, the Board allocated employer contributions equal to 8 percent of covered
payroll to the Health Care Reserve Fund. For the District, this amount equaled
$134,373 during fiscal 2000.

STRS pays health care benefits from the Health Care Reserve Fund. The
balance in the Health Care Reserve Fund was $2.783 billion at June 30, 1999
(the latest information available). For the year ended June 30, 1999 (the latest
information available), net health care costs paid by STRS were $249.929 million
and STRS had 95,796 eligible benefit recipients.
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For SERS, coverage is made available to service retirees with ten or more years
of qualifying service credit, and disability and survivor benefit recipients.
Members retiring on or after August 1, 1989, with less than twenty-five years of
service credit must pay a portion of their premium for health care. The portion is
based on years of service up to a maximum of 75 percent of the premium.

For this fiscal year, employer contributions to fund health care benefits were 8.45
percent of covered payroll. In addition, SERS levies a surcharge to fund health
care benefits equal to 14 percent of the difference between a minimum pay and
the member’s pay, pro-rated for partial service credit. For fiscal year 2000, the
minimum pay has been established at $12,400. The surcharge, added to the
unallocated portion of the 14 percent employer contribution rate, provides for
maintenance of the asset target level for the health care fund.

The target level for the health care reserve is 150 percent of annual health care
expenses. Expenses for health care at June 30, 1999 (the latest information
available), were $126.4 million and the target level was $189.6 million. At June
30, 1999 (the latest information available), SERS had net assets available for
payment of health care benefits of $188.0 million and SERS had approximately
51,000 participants receiving health care benefits. For the District, the amount
to fund health care benefits, including surcharge, equaled $70,646 during the
2000 fiscal year.

NOTE 15 - BUDGETARY BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

While reporting financial position, results of operations, and changes in fund
balance is done on a GAAP basis, the budgetary basis, as provided by law, is
based upon accounting for certain transactions on a basis of cash receipts and
disbursements.

The Combined Statement of Revenue, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund
Balances - Budget and Actual - All Governmental Fund Types is presented on
the budgetary basis to provide a meaningful comparison of actual results with the
budget. The major differences between the budget basis and the GAAP basis
are that:

(a) Revenues are recorded when received in cash (budget basis) as opposed to
when susceptible to accrual (GAAP basis);

(b) Expenditures are recorded when paid in cash (budget basis) as opposed to
when the liability is incurred (GAAP basis);
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(c) In order to determine compliance with Ohio law, and to reserve that portion of
the applicable appropriation, encumbrances are recorded as the equivalent of
an expenditure (budget basis) as opposed to a reservation of fund balance for
governmental funds (GAAP basis).

The adjustments necessary to convert the results of operations for the year on
the budget basis to the GAAP basis for the governmental funds are as follows:

Excess of Revenues and Other Financing
Sources Over (Under) Expenditures and Other
Financing Uses

Governmental Fund Types

Special Debt Capital
General Revenue Service Project
Budget basis $ 181,848 $44 696 $(15,383) $10,568

Net adjustment for
revenue accruals (302,953) (1,018) (13,579) ---

Net adjustment for
expenditure accruals (31,718) (6,071) --- (1)

Net adjustment for other
financing sources (uses) (2,279) --- --- .-

Encumbrances
(budget basis) 116,206 26,112 --- ---
GAAP basis $ (38,896) $63,719 $(28,962) $10,567
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A. Grants

The District receives significant financial assistance from numerous federal,
state and local agencies in the form of grants. The disbursement of funds
received under these programs generally requires compliance with terms and
conditions specified in the grant agreements and is subject to audit by the
grantor agencies. Any disallowed claims resulting from such audits could
become a liability of the general fund or other applicable funds. However, in
the opinion of management, any such disallowed claims will not have a
material effect on any of the financial statements of the individual fund types
included herein or on the overall financial position of the District at June 30,
2000.

B. Litigation
The District is not currently a party to any legal proceedings.
C. State School Funding Decision

On September 6, 2001, the Ohio Supreme Court issued its latest opinion
regarding the State’s school funding plan. The decision identified aspects of
the current plan that require modification if the plan is to be considered
constitutional, including:

A change in the school districts that are used as the basis for determining the
base cost support amount. Any change in the amount of funds distributed to
school districts as a result of this change must be retroactive to July 1, 2001,
although a time line for distribution is not specified.

Fully funding parity aid no later than the beginning of fiscal year 2004 rather
than fiscal year 2006.

The Supreme Court relinquished jurisdiction over the case based on
anticipated compliance with its order.

In general, it is expected that the decision would result in an increase in State
funding for most Ohio school districts. However, as of October 31, 2001, the
Ohio General Assembly is still analyzing the impact this Supreme Court
decision will have on funding for individual school districts. Further, the State
of Ohio, in a motion filed September 17, 2001, asked the Court to reconsider
and clarify the parts of the decision changing the school districts that are used
as the basis for determining the base cost support amount and the
requirement that changes be made retroactive to July 1, 2001.
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On November 2, 2001, the Court granted this motion for reconsideration. The
court may re-examine any issue upon such reconsideration.

As of the date of these financial statements, the District is unable to
determine what effect, if any, this ongoing litigation will have on its future
State funding under this program and on its financial operations.

NOTE 17 - GROUP PURCHASING POOL

The District is a member of the Metropolitan Educational Council (MEC)
purchasing group. The following items are purchased through this group
discount program; custodial products, food service products, audio visual bulbs,
and certain paper products. The MEC also provides a Self-Help Gas Program
where members save significant amounts on natural gas purchases.

NOTE 18 - STATUTORY RESERVES

The District is required by State law to set-aside certain general fund revenue
amounts, as defined by Statute, into various reserves. These reserves are
calculated and presented on a cash basis. During the fiscal year ended June 30,
2000, the reserve activity was as follows:

Capital Budget
Textbooks  Acquisition _Stabilization

Set-aside cash balance as of July 1, 1999 $ 0 $ 0 $45,681
Current year set-aside requirement 81,821 81,821 ---
Current year additional set-aside --- --- 8,866
Current year offsets (8,926) --- ---
Qualifying disbursements (72,056) (120,966) ---
Total $ 839 $ (39,145) $54,547
Cash balance carried forward to FY 2001 $ 839 $ 0 $54,547

NOTE 18 - STATUTORY RESERVES - (Continued)

Although the District had offsets and qualifying disbursements during the year

-44 -



LUCAS LOCAL SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2000
NOTE 18 - STATUTORY RESERVES - (Continued)

Although the District had offsets and qualifying disbursements during the year
that reduced the capital acquisition set-aside amount below zero, these extra
amount may not be used to reduce the set-aside requirement of future years.
The negative amount is therefore not presented as being carried forward to the
next fiscal year.

A current year set-aside for budget stabilization is not required for fiscal year
2000, however, the District has elected to set-aside $8,866. This amount is
reported as designated fund balance on the combined balance sheet. Amounts
set-aside in excess of statutory requirements are not reported as restricted
assets and no reservation of fund balance is presented.

A schedule of the restricted assets at June 30, 2000 follows:

Amount restricted for budget stabilization $45,681
Amount restricted for textbooks 839
Total restricted assets $46,520
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Independent Auditors’ Report on Compliance and on Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting Based on an Audit of General Purpose Financial Statements
Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards

To the Board of Education
Lucas Local School District
Lucas, Ohio 44843

We have audited the general purpose financial statements of the Lucas Local School
District (the District), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2000 and have issued our
report thereon dated November 22, 2001. We conducted our audit in accordance with
generally accepted auditing standards and the standards applicable to financial audits
contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the
United States.

Compliance

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Lucas Local School District's
financial statements are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants,
noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of
financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those
provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an
opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance that are
required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit, we considered Lucas Local School District's internal
control over financial reporting in order to determine our auditing procedures for the
purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements and not to provide
assurance on the internal control over financial reporting. Our consideration of the
internal control over financial reporting would not necessarily disclose all matters in the
internal control over financial reporting that might be material weaknesses. A material
weakness is a condition in which the design or operation of one or more of the internal
components does not reduce to a relatively low level the risk that misstatements in
amounts that would be material in relation to the financial statements being audited may
occur and not be detected within a timely period by employees in the normal course of
performing their assigned functions. We noted no matters involving the internal control
over financial reporting and its operation that we consider to be material weaknesses.



Page 2

However, we noted a certain matter involving the internal control over financial reporting
that we have reported to management of the District, in a separate letter dated November

22, 2001

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Education,
management, federal awarding agencies and pass-through entities and the Auditor of
State and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these
specified parties.

Hoone Steptens »1ple

Akron, Ohio
November 22, 2001
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STATE OF OHIO 88 East Broad Street
Columbus, Ohio 43215

OFFICE OF THE AUDITOR

Telephone 614-466-4514

JiM PETRO, AUDITOR OF STATE 800-282-0370

Facsimile 614-728-7398
www.auditor.state.oh.us

To the Board of Education
Lucas Local School District
Lucas, Ohio 44843

We have reviewed the Independent Auditor’s Report of thel_ucas Loca School District,

Richland County, prepared by Moore, Stephens, Apple, for the audit period July 1, 2000 through
June 30, 2001. Based upon this review, we have accepted these reportsin lieu of the audit
required by Section 117.11, Revised Code. The Auditor of State did not audit the accompanying
financia statements and, accordingly, we are unable to express, and do not express an opinion on
them.

Our review was made in reference to the applicable sections of legidlative criteria, as reflected by
the Ohio Constitution, and the Revised Code, policies, procedures and guidelines of the Auditor
of State, regulations and grant requirements. ThelLucas Loca School District is responsible for
compliance with these laws and regulations.

JM PETRO
Auditor of State

January 10, 2002
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Report of Independent Auditors

To the Board of Education
Lucas Local School District
Lucas, Ohio 44843

We have audited the accompanying general purpose financial statements of the Lucas
Local School District as of and for the year ended June 30, 2001. These general purpose
financial statements are the responsibility of the Lucas Local School District's
‘management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these general purpose
financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the general purpose financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the general purpose financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall general purpose financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the general purpose financial statements referred to above present fairly,
in all material respects, the financial position of the Lucas Local School District as of June
30, 2001 and the results of its operations and cash flows of its proprietary fund types and
nonexpendable trust fund for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report
dated November 21, 2001 on our consideration of the Lucas Local School District's
internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grants. That report is an integral part of an
audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards and should be read
in conjunction with this report in considering the results of our audit.

Moo Stephens Aople

Akron, Ohio
November 21, 2001
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GENERAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS




Iql

INIWNILVLS SIHL 40 14Vd TvHOILINI NV 3V SINGWILV.LS TVIONVNIL 3SOdiNd TvHINIO 3HL Ol S31ON 3H1L

..... S}Hgep Jeyjo pue sjesse [ejo]

+ + + ‘suopeBjqo uuej-Buoj [eleueb

JO JuswWeIyel Joj pepirold eq 0} Junowy
‘' puny @9jAIeS Jqep Uj S|qe|feAe Junowry

809'069'8$  €€5'C0e$ ys8'oer'ys  0v6'LLS 65981 ¢ 10.'€9% 6..°/2% 96.'G8% 606'66$ 96p's8e'es
000'092 000092 st
£e5'cy [ AL
806’y ¥S8'0ey' Vs S0yl v
09061 090'6l
zee'se 960°C 9eT'92
898'sl (1748 851'c 065°Gl
osy'ee osy'ce
0e6'Ll 1192 6les e
lel'8 lel's
Shy's €61 102 6.2 2LLL
poe'ces’L 061 'Sy pLLi88')
Log'le L0e'le e
yel'sle’ls ovv've$ 65'98L$ S29'vP$ 6..'L2% 909°0v$ £61'e89 185'86€'1$
Aluo suopebliqo Sjessy KouebBy CEINCS esudiejus syoeold CRITNES enueney leleues
wnpuelowsly) wue]-Buoq pexid pue jsnij [ewsju) lejiden 19ed lepeds
lejoL feleuen jeisues)
sdnolg) Junoddy $6dX] pund sedA] pund Krejeudold sedA] pund [ejusWiLIeAos)
Adeponpl4
1002 ‘0¢ INNP
SdNO/UO LNNOJJV ANV SIdAL ANNL TV
133HS JONVTVE A3NIGNOD

OIHO ‘AINNOD ANV 1HOR
LORILSIA TOOHIS TVvO01 SYoNl

11930 ¥3H10

............. AO-DS__QQW
eJeym uojjeroeidep pejejnunade Jo
jeu) Juewdinbe pue jueld ‘Auedoid
......... W~C0_N>_:UO yseo
pue ysea pejood u] Aynbg
'sjesse pejoLjsey

* * rAlojueAu] sejjddns pue s|elejei
............ sjuewiedeid
....... 8jqeAlsoel Ueo| punieju|
..... SjuswuIenoB eyjo woy enq

.......... 1S818jU| PenIsdY
............. Sjunoooy

* * ¢ *juenbujjep %@ JueLno - sexe]

‘(se|qposliooun jo

SOOUEMO|[E JO J6U) SO|qeAIeo0Y
............. puny jshj
e|qepusdxeuou - sjuejeAinbe yseos

pue yseo pejood u| Ajjnb3
.......... sjuejeAinbe ysea

pue yseo psjood uj Ajinb3

‘el3ssv

SI1930 93HIO NV 1TSSV



- m -
INIWILVLS SIHL 40 1uvVd IVHOILINI NV 3V SINIWILVLS TVIONVNIA 3SOduNd TVHINIO 3HL OL S3LION IHL

809'059'8$ ££5°20e$ ¥98'0ct'v$ ov6'LLS $65'981$ 10.'€9% 6..'/23. 96/.'G8% 606'66% 067'G8E'ES  HpeIo Jeyjo pue Ajnbe ‘sejjjigel] [eloL
GSG'¥€0'9 ye8'0ey'y SLl'ey 06182} €eZ'sy 66.'62 €e5'2y 1e6'¢l y68've’L 't s)ipesa Jeyjo pue Ajinbse [ejol
£8v'6ll’L 808G 990'¢2 121'99 28¥'¥80°L  ° (31ouep) pejeubisepun-panieselun
0906} 09061 * 't spunjel DG 1o} pelesey
Log'le Loe'le * * *juewmopuse [edioupd 1o} pealesey
Lv9'6L 298l [+1:700 7 A uopjenidoidde Joj
o|qe|leABUN SNUOASL X} IO} POAISSSY
129'0b Ve e ©9|AISS Jgep 1o} poAlesey
982'9C ogz'oz vttt AojueAul sejiddns
pUe S[euejel Jo) POAIeSeY
1741 8sl'e oess, sjueuifede.d Joj pealesey
rAN T4 ee.lT 269y 3 ¥4 T T 'seduBIqUINOUS o) PBAIesSeY
:seouejeq pund
€26'LLL 06l‘szi eeL'sy e peAlese.un :sBujuies peufeiey
00S'L Oom.—. ............ _Gu_QGO penquIue)
yss'oey'y ys8'0ey'v$ * ¢ s)esSE pexy [eieueb uj JuewnseAu]
:S1Ia3¥0 ¥IHLO ANV ALINDT
£650919°C ££5'208 G28's2 pov'8s viy'slL 086°L €92’y 2l6°12 zog'ovk'e ottt sejjliiqel| [ejoL
8y9'/¢ 8¥9°/¢ "+ * gjqeded ejou uogeAlesuoo ABieug
00004 0000 -+ - o|qeAed spuoq uopeBjiqo feJeuss
5/e'9 GIE'9 e e Sjuepn}s o} enq
225'888')L 6eL'02 ol6 £92'ehs 11'el 155 200] 8 : A enueAel pelejeq
osy'ee osP'Zes e e|qeied ueo| punueju|
$99°/8 goo'Zes e ojqeAed swiel)
gel'sll £26°LY ¥Ze'oL e 268 o|qeded uopebiiqo uojsued
129991 29%'orL$ 1 4%] oes'el '+ o|qeAed seouesqe pejesuedwio)
£69'192 68t$ 14 6.5y 129'952 't * Csjyeueq pue sefem peniody
oee'es 9/6'L$ 88lL'v$ gol'eg ot ejqeded sjunoody
S3lLnigvii
SIIa390 93HIC ANV
ALIND3 's3aLLavIt
Ko suopebiqo Sjessy KoueBy SOIAIeS espdieyis s)oelold oIAIBS onuensy [eieuen
winpuelowsly) wue]-Buo poxi4 pue jshij [eusju| feyded 19eQ lejoeds
ejoL jeiouen | jeseus
~sdnolg Junoady sedA] punj sedA] pung Aejendoid sedA ] punj [EJUSWILISAOS)
1002 ‘0e INNP
(QANNILNOD) SdNOYD INNODOV ANV S3JAL ONNA TV
133HS 3ONVIvE AINISNOD
OIHO ‘ALNNOD ANV THORI

LORI1SIA TOOHOS V001 SvoN



LUCAS LOCAL SCHOOL DISTRICT
RICHLAND COUNTY, OHIO
COMBINED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
ALL GOVERNMENTAL FUND TYPES AND EXPENDABLE TRUST FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2001

Fiduciary
Governmental Fund Types Fund Type
Total
Special Debt Capital Expendable (Memorandum
General Revenue Service Projects Trust Only)
Revenues:
From local sources:
Taxes . . .. ... ... $1,702,453 $61,585 $1,764,038
Tuiion . ... .............. 19,743 19,743
Eamings oninvestments. . . . ... ... 109,313 $1,340 $784 $211 111,648
Extracurricular . . . . .. ... ... . 111,342 1,107 112,449
Otherlocalrevenues. . . . . ... .... 17,587 2,978 2,588 23,153
Otherrevenue. . . . . ... ......... 5,150 5,150
Intergovemmental -Stats. . . . . ... .. 2,171,822 77,466 5,500 25,500 2,280,288
Intergovernmental - Federal . . . . .. .. 2,498 80,555 83,053
Totalrevenue . . . . . .. ....... 4,023,416 278,831 67,085 26,284 3,906 4,399,622
Expenditures:
Current:
Instruction:
Regular . .. . ............. 1,479,361 46,640 53,454 1,579,455
Special . .'. .. ............. 298,467 40,808 1,201 340,476
Vocational . . . .. ........... 83,074 83,074
Other. . . .. .............. 100,410 5,000 105,410
Support services:
Pupil . ................. 110,546 8,479 119,025
Instructionalstaff . . . . ......... 174,937 96,925 18,296 836 290,994
Boardofeducation. . . . .. ...... 10,749 10,749
Administration. . . . .. ... ... ... 514,764 25,775 540,539
Fiscal. . ... .............. 154,711 904 155,615
Operations and maintenance. . . . . . . 389,947 389,947
Pupil fransportation . . . . ... .. .. 296,683 296,683
Central. . . ............... 9,166 7,840 17,006
Communityservices . . . .. ... .... 3,581 670 4,251
Extracurricular activites . . . . . .. ... 123,483 93,750 217,233
Debt service:
Principal retirement. . . . . . ... .. .. 75,379 75,379
Interest and fiscal charges . . . . ... .. 7,715 7,715
Totalexpenditures. . . . ... ... ... 3,749,879 325,887 83,998 71,750 2,037 4,233,551
Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over (under) expenditures . . . . . . . 273,537 (47,056) (16,913) (45,466) 1,869 165,971
Other financing sources:

Proceeds from sale of fixed assets . . . 1,500 1,500
Total other financing sources . . . . . . . 1,500 1,500
Excess (deficiency) of revenues and

other financing sources over (under)

expenditures . . . . ........... 275,037 (47,056) (16,913) (45,466) 1,869 167,471

Fundbalances, July1. . . ... ...... 968,777 120,993 59,446 71,265 3,939 1,224,420
Increase in reserve forinventory . . . . . . . 1,080 1,080
Fund balances, June30. . . . .. ... .. $1,244,894 $73,937 $42,533 $25,799 $5,808 $1,392,971

THE NOTES TO THE GENERAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ARE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THIS STATEMENT
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LUCAS LOCAL SCHOOL. DISTRICT
RICHLAND COUNTY, OHIO
COMBINED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES
AND CHANGES IN RETAINED EARNINGS/FUND BALANCE
ALL PROPRIETARY FUND TYPES AND NONEXPENDABLE TRUST FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2001

Fiduciary
Proprietary Fund Types Fund Type
Total
Internal Nonexpendable (Memorandum
Enterprise Service Trust Only)
Operating revenues:
Tuitonandfees . . ... ........... $15,306 $15,306
Sales/charges for services . . . . ... .. .. 129,574 $262,934 392,508
Investmentearnings . . . . . ... ... ... $2,122 2,122
Total operatingrevenues . . . . .. .. ... 144,880 262,934 2,122 409,936
Operating expenses:
Personalservices . . ... .......... 82,089 82,089
Contractservices . . ... ... ....... 2,896 93,920 96,816
Materials andsupplies . . . . . ... ... .. 83,601 2,548 86,149
Depreciation . . . ... ............ 2,751 2,751
Claimsexpense . . ... ........... 175,389 175,389
Other operatingexpenses. . . . . .. ... .. 180 7,300 1,501 8,981
Total operatingexpenses . . . .. ... ... 171,517 279,157 1,501 452,175
Operatingincome (loss). . . . . ... ... .. (26,637) (16,223) 621 (42,239)
Nonoperating revenues:
Operatinggrants . . . . ... ......... 19,904 19,904
Federal commodities . . . . . .. ... .... 8,683 8,683
Interestrevenue. . . . . . ... ... ... .. 1,751 1,751
Other nonoperating revenues. . . . . .. ... 1,083 1,083
Total nonoperatingrevenues . . . . . .. .. 30,338 1,083 31,421
Netincome(ioss) . . . . . ... ... .... 3,701 (15,140) 621 (10,818)
Retained earnings/fund balance, July 1 . . . . . 40,032 143,330 36,686 220,048
Retained earnings/fund balance, June 30 . . . . $43,733 $128,190 $37,307 $209,230

THE NOTES TO THE GENERAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ARE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THIS STATEMENT



LUCAS LOCAL SCHOOL DISTRICT

RICHLAND COUNTY, OHIO

COMBINED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

ALL PROPRIETARY FUND TYPES AND NONEXPENDABLE TRUST FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2001

Fiduciary
Proprietary Fund Types Fund Type
Total
Internal Nonexpendable (Memorandum
Enterprise Service Trust Only)
Cash flows from operating activities:
Cash received from tuition and fees/other . . . . $15,160 $15,160
Cash received from sales/service charges . . . . 129,574 $266,684 396,258
Cash payments for personal services. . . . . . . (79,280) (79,280)
Cash payments for confract services . . . . . . . (2,939) (93,920) (96,859)
Cash payments for materials and supplies . . . . (74,747) (2,548) (77,285)
Cash payments for claimsexpenses . . . . ... .. (197,629) (197,629)
Cash payments for other expenses . . . . . . . . (180) (7,300) ($1,501) (8,981)
Net cash used in operating activities . . . . . . (12,412) (34,713) (1,501) (48,626)
Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:
Cash received from operatinggrants . . . . ... 20,927 20,927
Cash received from other noncapital financing
activities . . . ... ................ 1,083 1,083
Net cash provided by noncapital
financing activities, . . . . ........... 20,927 1,083 22010
Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Aquisition of capitalassets. . . . . .. ... .. (1,949) (1,949)
Net cash used in capital and related
financing activities . . . . . .. ..... ... (1,949) (1,949)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Interestreceived. . . . ... ........... 1,751 2,122 3,873
Net cash provided by investing activities. . . . . 1,751 2,122 3,873
Net increase (decrease) in
cashandcashequivalents. . . . ......... 8,317 (33,630) 621 (24,692)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year. . 36,308 220,224 36,686 293,218
Cash and cash equivalents atend of year . . . . . $44 625 $186,594 $37,307 $268,526
Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net
cash used in operating activities:
Operatingincome (loss) . . . . .. ... .. .. ($26,637) ($16,223) $621 ($42,239)
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss)
to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation. . . . ............... 2,751 2,751
Federal donated commodities . . . . . ... .. 8,683 8,683
Interest reported as operatingincome. . . . . . .. (2,122) (2,122)
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Decrease in materials and supplies inventory . 656 656
Increase in accounts receivable . . . . .. .. (146) (146)
Increaseinprepayments . . . . .. ... ... (43) (43)
Decrease in accountspayable . . . ... ... (317) (317)
Decrease in accrued wages and benefits. . . . (1,470) (1,470)
Increase in compensated absences payable . 3,498 3,498
Increase in pension obligation payable . . . . 781 781
Decreaseinclaimspayable. . . . . ... ... .. (22,240) (22,240)
Increase (decrease) in deferred revenue . . . . (168) 3,750 3,582
Net cash used in operating activities. . . . . . . . ($12,412) _($34,713) ($1,501) ($48,626)

THE NOTES TO THE GENERAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ARE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THIS STATEMENT



LUCAS LOCAL SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2001
NOTE 1 - DESCRIPTION OF THE SCHOOL DISTRICT

The Lucas Local School District (the “District”) is a body politic and corporate
established for the purpose of exercising the rights and privileges conveyed to it
by the constitution and laws of the State of Ohio.

The District ranks as the 586™ largest by total enrollment among the 682 public
and community school districts in the State. The District operates under a
locally-elected five-member Board form of government and provides educational
services as authorized by its charter and further mandated by state and/or
federal agencies. This Board controls the district's 4 instructional/support
facilities staffed by 35 classified and 47 certificated full-time teaching personnel
who provide services to 625 students and other community members.

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The general purpose financial statements (GPFS) of the District have been
prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as
applied to governmental units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental
accounting and financial reporting principles. The District also applies Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Statements and Interpretations issued on or
before November 30, 1989, to its proprietary activities provided they do not
conflict with or contradict GASB pronouncements. The District's significant
accounting policies are described below.

A. Reporting Entity

The District's reporting entity has been defined in accordance with GASB
Statement No. 14, “The Financial Reporting Entity”. When applying GASB
Statement No. 14, management has considered all potential component units.
The basic, but not the only, criterion for including a potential component unit
within the reporting entity is the Board's ability to exercise significant oversight
responsibility. The most significant manifestation of this ability is financial
interdependence. Other manifestations of the ability to exercise oversight
responsibility include, but are not limited to, the selection of the governing
authority, the designation of management, the ability to significantly influence
operations, and the accountability for fiscal matters.

-10 -



LUCAS LOCAL SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2001
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (Continued)

A second criterion used in evaluating potential component units is the scope
of public service. Application of this criterion involves considering whether the
activity benefits the District and/or its citizens. A third criterion used to
evaluate potential component units for inclusion or exclusion from the
reporting entity is the existence of special financing relationships, regardless
of whether the District is able to exercise oversight responsibilities. Based
upon the application of these criteria, the District has no component units.
The following organizations are described due to their relationship with the
District:

JOINTLY GOVERNED ORGANIZATION

Heartland Council of Governments (the COG)

The COG (fka North Central Ohio Computer Cooperative) is a jointly
governed organization among 15 school districts and 1 county educational
service center. The COG was formed for the purpose of applying modern
technology with the aid of computers and other electronic technology to
administrative and instructional functions. Each member district supports the
COG based on a per pupil charge dependent upon the software package
utiized. The COG is governed by a Board of Directors consisting of
-superintendents of the members school districts. The degree of control
exercised by any school district is limited to its representation on the Board.
In accordance with GASB Statement No. 14, the District does not have any
equity interest in the COG. Financial information can be obtained from the
treasurer for the Pioneer Career and Technology Center, who serves as fiscal
agent, at 27 Ryan Road, Shelby, Ohio 44875-0309.

PUBLIC ENTITY RISK POOL

Ohio School Boards Association Workers’ Compensation Group Rating Plan
The District participates in a group rating plan for workers’ compensation as
established under Section 4123.29 of the Ohio Revised Code. The Ohio
School Boards Association Workers’ Compensation Group Rating Plan (GRP)
was established through the Ohio School Boards Association (OSBA) as a
group purchasing pool.

-11-



LUCAS LOCAL SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2001
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (Continued)

The Plan’s business and affairs are conducted by a three-member Board of
Directors consisting of the President, the President-Elect, and the Immediate
Past President of the OSBA. The Executive Director of the OSBA, or his
designee, serves as coordinator of the Plan. Each year, the participating
school districts pay an enroliment fee to the Plan to cover the costs of
administering the program.

B. Fund Accounting

The District uses funds and account groups to report its financial position and
the results of its operations. A fund is a separate accounting entity with a
self-balancing set of accounts. An account group, on the other hand, is a
financial reporting device designed to provide accountability for certain assets
and liabilities that are not recorded in the funds because they do not directly
affect net expendable available financial resources. Fund accounting is
designed to demonstrate legal compliance and to aid financial management
by segregating transactions related to certain school district activities or
functions. Funds are classified into three categories: overnmental,
proprietary and fiduciary. Each category is divided into separate fund types.

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

Governmental funds are those through which most governmental functions of
the District are financed. The acquisition, use and balances of the District's
expendable financial resources and the related liabilities (except those
accounted for in proprietary funds or the nonexpendable trust fund) are
accounted for through governmental funds. The following are the District's
governmental fund types:

General Fund - The general fund is the general operating fund of the
District and is used to account for all financial resources, except those
required to be accounted for in another fund. The general fund balance is
available to the District for any purpose provided it is expended or
transferred according to the general laws of the State of Ohio.

Special Revenue Funds - The special revenue funds are used to account
for the proceeds of specific revenue sources (other than expendable
trusts, or major capital projects) that are legally restricted to expenditures
for specified purposes.
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LUCAS LOCAL SCHOOL DISTRICT

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2001
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (Continued)
Debt Service Fund - The debt service fund is used to account for the

accumulation of resources for, and the payment of, general long-term debt
principal, interest, and related costs.

Capital Projects Funds - The capital projects funds are used to account for
financial resources to be used for the acquisition of construction of major
capital facilities (other than those financed by proprietary funds or the
nonexpendable trust fund).

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

Proprietary funds are used to account for the District's ongoing activities,
which are similar to those often found in the private sector where the
determination of net income is necessary or useful to sound financial
administration. The following are the District's proprietary fund types:

Enterprise ___Funds - The enterprise funds are used to account for
operations (a) that are financed and operated in a manner similar to
private business enterprises--where the intent of the governing body is
that the costs (expenses, including depreciation) of providing goods or
services to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or
recovered primarily through user charges; or (b) where the governing body
has decided that periodic determination of revenues earned, expenses
incurred, and/or net income is appropriate for capital maintenance, public
policy, management control, accountability, or other purposes.

Internal Service Funds - The internal service funds are used to account for
the financing of goods and services provided by one department or
agency to other departments or agencies of the district, or to other
governments, on a cost-reimbursement basis.
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LUCAS LOCAL SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2001
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (Continued)
FIDUCIARY FUNDS

Fiduciary funds are used to account for assets held by the District in a trustee
capacity or as an agent for individuals, private organizations, other
governmental units and/or other funds. These include a nonexpendable trust
fund, an expendable trust fund and an agency fund. The nonexpendable trust
fund is accounted for in the same manner as proprietary funds. The
expendable trust fund is accounted for in the same manner as governmental
funds. Agency funds are custodial in nature (assets equal liabilities) and do
not involve measurement of results of operations. The agency fund is
presented on a budget basis, with note disclosure, regarding items, which, in
other fund types, would be subject to accrual. See Note 3 for an analysis of
the agency fund accruals, which, in other fund types, would be recognized in
the combined balance sheet.

ACCOUNT GROUPS

To make a clear distinction between fixed assets related to specific funds and
those of general government, and between long-term liabilities related to
specific funds and those of general nature, the following account groups are
used.

General _Fixed Assets Account Group - This group of accounts is
established to account for all fixed assets of the District, other than those
accounted for in the proprietary or trust funds.

General Long-Term Obligations Account Group - This group of accounts is
established to account for all long-term obligations of the District, other
than those accounted for in the proprietary funds or the nonexpendable
trust fund.

C. Measurement Focus/Basis of Accounting

The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is
determined by its measurement focus. All governmental funds and the
expendable trust fund are accounted for using a current financial resources
measurement focus. With this measurement focus, only current assets and
current liabilities generally are included on the balance sheet. Operating
statements of these funds present increases (revenues and other financing
sources) and decreases (expenditures and other financing uses) in net
current assets.
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LUCAS LOCAL SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2001
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (Continued)

All proprietary funds and the nonexpendable trust fund are accounted for on a
flow of economic resources measurement focus. With this measurement
focus, all assets and all liabilities associated with the operations of these
funds are included on the balance sheet. Proprietary fund type operating
statements present increases (revenues) and decreases (expenses) in net -
total assets.

The modified accrual basis of accounting is followed for governmental funds
and the expendable trust fund. Under the modified accrual basis of
accounting, revenues are recognized when they become both measurable
and available to finance expenditures of the current period, which for the
District is 60 days after the June 30 year-end. Revenues accrued at the end
of the year include taxes, (to the extent they are intended to finance the
current fiscal year), interest, and accounts (student fees and tuition). Current
property taxes measurable as of June 30, 2001, and which are intended to
finance fiscal 2002 operations, have been recorded as deferred revenues.
Delinquent property taxes measurable and available (received within 60 days)
are recognized as revenue. In proprietary funds, unused donated
commodities are reported as deferred revenue.

Nonexchange transactions, in which the District receives value without
directly giving equal value in return, include property taxes, grants,
entittements and donations. On the modified accrual basis, revenue from
property taxes is recognized in the fiscal year for which the taxes are levied
and the resources are available. Revenue from grants, entitlements and
donations is recognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility requirements
have been met and the resources are available.

The District reports deferred revenue on its combined balance sheet.
Deferred revenues arise when a potential revenue does not meet both the
"measurable” and "available" criteria for recognition in the current period.
Deferred revenues also arise when resources are received by the District
before it has a legal claim to them, as when grant monies are received prior to
the recognition of qualifying expenditures. In subsequent periods, when both
revenue recognition criteria are met, or when the government has a legal
claim to the resources, the liability for deferred revenue is removed from the
combined balance sheet and revenue is recognized.
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LUCAS LOCAL SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2001
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (Continued)

Expenditures (decreases in net financial resources) are recognized in the
period in which the fund liability is incurred with the following exception:
general long-term obligation principal and interest are reported only when
due; and costs of accumulated unpaid vacation and sick leave are reported
as expenditures in the period in which they will be liquidated with available
financial resources rather than in the period earned by employees.

The proprietary funds and nonexpendable trust fund are accounted for on the
accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenues
are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities
are incurred. The fair value of donated commodities used during the year is
reported in the operating statement as an expense and a like amount is
reported as donated commodities revenue.

On the accrual basis of accounting, revenue from nonexchange transactions,
such as grants, entitlements and donations, is recognized in the fiscal year in
which all eligibility requirements have been met. The proprietary funds
receive no revenue from property taxes.

D. Budgets

The District is required by state statute to adopt an annual appropriated cash
basis budget for all funds. The specific timetable for fiscal year 2001 is as
follows:

1. Prior to January 15 of the preceding year, the Superintendent and
Treasurer submit to the Board of Education a proposed operating budget
for the fiscal year commencing the following July 1. The budget includes
proposed expenditures and the means of financing for all funds. Public
hearings are publicized and conducted to obtain taxpayers' comments.
The expressed purpose of this budget document is to reflect the need for
existing (or increased) tax rates.

2. By no later than January 20, the board-adopted budget is filed with the
Richland County Budget Commission for tax rate determination.
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LUCAS LOCAL SCHOOL DISTRICT

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2001

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (Continued)

3.

Prior to April 1, the Board of Education accepts, by formal resolution, the
tax rates as determined by the Budget Commission and receives the
Commission's Certificate of Estimated Resources, which states the
projected revenue of each fund. Prior to June 30, the District must revise
its budget so that total contemplated expenditures from any fund during
the ensuing year will not exceed the amount stated in the Certificate of
Estimated Resources. The revised budget then serves as a basis for the
appropriation measure. On or about July 1, the Certificate is amended to
include any unencumbered balances from the preceding year as reported
by the District Treasurer. The Certificate may be further amended during
the year if projected increases or decreases in revenue are identified by
the District Treasurer. The amounts reported in the budgetary statement
reflect the amounts set forth in the final Amended Certificate issued for
fiscal year 2001.

By July 1, the annual appropriation resolution is legally enacted by the
Board of Education at the fund level of expenditures, which is the legal
level of budgetary control. (State statute permits a temporary
appropriation to be effective until no later than October 1 of each year.)
Although the legal level of budgetary control was established at the fund
level of expenditures, the District has elected to present budgetary
statement comparisons at the fund and function level of expenditures.
Resolution appropriations by fund must be within the estimated resources
as certified by the County Budget Commission and the total of
expenditures and encumbrances may not exceed the appropriation totals.

Any revisions that alter the total of any fund appropriation‘ must be
approved by the Board of Education.

Formal budgetary integration is employed as a management control
device during the year for all funds consistent with the general obligation
bond indenture and other statutory provisions. All funds completed the
year within the amount of their legally authorized cash basis appropriation.

Appropriation amounts are as originally adopted, or as amended by the
Board of Education through the year by supplemental appropriations,
which either reallocated or increased the original appropriated amounts.
All supplemental appropriations were legally enacted by the Board during
fiscal 2001.
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LUCAS LOCAL SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2001
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (Continued)

8. Unencumbered appropriations lapse at year-end. Encumbered
appropriations are carried forward to the succeeding fiscal year and need
not be reappropriated. Expenditures plus encumbrances may not legally
exceed budgeted appropriations at the fund level.

Encumbrance accounting is utilized with District funds in the normal
course of operations, for purchase orders and contract related
expenditures. An encumbrance is a reserve on the available spending
authority due to commitment for a future expenditure and does not
represent a liability. For governmental fund types, encumbrances
outstanding at year-end appear as a reserve to the fund balance on a
GAAP basis and as the equivalent of expenditures on a non-GAAP
budgetary basis in order to demonstrate legal compliance. Note 16
provides a reconciliation of the budgetary and GAAP basis of accounting
and Note 13 discloses encumbrances outstanding for the enterprise funds
at fiscal year-end.

E. Cash and Investments

To improve cash management, cash received by the District is pooled.
Monies for all funds, including proprietary funds, are maintained in this pool.
Individual fund integrity is maintained through the District’'s records. Each
fund’s interest in the pool is presented as “Equity in Pooled Cash and Cash
Equivalents” on the combined balance sheet.

During fiscal year 2001, investments were limited to nonnegotiable certificates
of deposit, a repurchase agreement and investments in the State Treasury
Asset Reserve of Ohio (STAR Ohio). Except for nonparticipating investment
contracts, investments are stated at fair market value, which is based upon
quoted market prices. Nonparticipating investment contracts such as
nonnegotiable certificates of deposit and repurchase agreements are reported
at cost.

STAR Ohio is an investment pool managed by the State Treasurer's Office,
which allows governments within the State to pool their funds for investment
purposes. STAR Ohio is not registered with the SEC as an investment
company, but does operate in a manner consistent with Rule 2a7 of the
Investment Company Act of 1940. Investments in STAR Ohio are valued at
STAR Ohio’s share price, which is the price the investment could be sold for
on June 30, 2001.
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LUCAS LOCAL SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2001

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (Continued)

Under existing Ohio Statutes all investment earnings are assigned to the
general fund, unless statutorily required to be credited to specific fund. By
policy of the Board of Education, investment earmings are assigned to the
general fund, the District Managed Activities special revenue fund, the
expendable trust fund, the nonexpendable trust fund, the Food Service
enterprise fund, and the Permanent Improvement capital projects fund.
During fiscal 2001, interest revenue credited to the general fund amounted to
$109,313, which includes $28,529 assigned from other District funds.

For purposes of the combined statement of cash flows and for presentation
on the combined balance sheet, investments of the cash management pool
and investments with original maturities of three months or less at the time
they are purchased by the District are considered to be cash equivalents.
Investments with an initial maturity of more than three months are reported as
investments.

An analysis of the Treasurer's investment account at year-end is provided in
Note 4.

F. Inventory

Inventories for all governmental funds are valued at cost (first-in/first-out
method). The purchase method is used to account for inventories. Under the
purchase method, inventories are recorded as expenditures when purchased;
however, material amounts of inventories at period-end are reported as
assets of the respective fund, which are equally offset by a fund balance
reserve, which indicates they are unavailable for appropriation even though
they are a component of reported assets.

Inventories of proprietary funds consist of donated food, purchased food, food
service paper and janitorial supplies and are valued at the lower of cost (first-
inffirst-out method) or market and expensed when used rather than when
purchased.
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LUCAS LOCAL SCHOOL DISTRICT

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2001

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (Continued)

G. Fixed Assets and Depreciation

1.

General Fixed Assets Account Group

General fixed assets are capitalized at cost or estimated historical cost.
Donated fixed assets are recorded at their fair market values as of the
date donated. The District foliows the policy of not capitalizing assets with
a cost of less than $500. No depreciation is recognized for assets in the
general fixed assets account group. The District has not included
infrastructure in the general fixed assets account group.

Proprietary Funds

Equipment reflected in these funds are stated at historical cost or
estimated historical cost and updated for the cost of additions and
retirements during the year. Donated fixed assets are recorded at their
fair market values as of the date donated. Depreciation has been
provided, where appropriate, on a straight-line basis over the following
estimated useful lives: '

Asset Life (years)
Furniture, fixtures and
equipment 5-20

H. Intergovernmental Revenues

In governmental funds, entittiements and non-reimbursable grants (to the
extent such grants and entitlements relate to the current fiscal year) are
recorded as receivables and revenue when measurable and available.
Reimbursement type grants are recorded as receivables and revenues when
the related expenditures are incurred. Other than commodities, grants and
entitlements for proprietary fund operations are recognized as non-operating
revenue when measurable and earned. The District currently participates in
various state and federal programs categorized as follows:
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LUCAS LOCAL SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2001

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (Continued)
Entitlements
General Fund

State Foundation Program
State Property Tax Relief

Non-Reimbursable Grants

Special Revenue Funds
Education Management Information Systems
Title VI-B
Local Professional Development
Title |
Title VI
SchoolNet Professional Development
Ohio Reads
Summer Intervention
Safe Schools Hellene
Title VI-Class Size Reduction
Martha Holden Jennings Grant
Network Connectivity
Extended Learning Opportunity
Drug Free Grant

Capital Projects Funds
Ohio SchoolNet Praise Grant

Proprietary Funds
Food Distribution Program

Reimbursable Grants

General Fund
Driver Education Reimbursement
School Bus Purchase Reimbursement
Vocational Education Travel/Salary

Proprietary Funds
National School Lunch Program
Government Donated Commodities
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LUCAS LOCAL SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2001
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (Continued)

Grants and entitiements amounted to approximately 49% of the District's
operating revenue during the 2001 fiscal year.

I. Compensated Absences

Compensated absences of the District consist of vacation leave and sick
leave to the extent that payment to the employee for these absences are
attributable to services already rendered and are not contingent on a specific
event that is outside the control of the District and the employee.

In accordance with the provisions of GASB Statement No. 16, "Accounting for
Compensated Absences," a liability for vacation leave is accrued if a) the
employees' rights to payment are attributable to services already rendered;
and b) it is probable that the employer will compensate the employees for the
benefits through paid time off or other means, such as cash payment at
termination or retirement. A liability for severance is accrued using the
vesting method; i.e., the liability is based on the sick leave accumulated at the
balance sheet date by those employees who are currently eligible to receive
termination (severance) payments, as well as those employees expected to
become eligible in the future. For purposes of establishing a liability for
severance on employees expected to become eligible to retire in the future,
all employees age 50 or greater with at least 10 years of service and all
employees with at least 20 years of service regardless of their age were
considered expected to become eligible to retire in accordance with GASB
Statement No. 16.

The total liability for vacation and sick leave payments has been calculated
using pay rates in effect at the balance sheet date, and reduced to the
maximum payment allowed by labor contract and/or statute, plus any
applicable additional salary related payments.

J. Contributed Capital

Contributed capital is recorded in proprietary funds that have received capital
grants, or contributions from developers, customers, or other funds. These
assets are recorded at their fair market value on the date contributed.
Depreciation on those assets acquired or constructed with contributed
resources is expensed and closed to unreserved retained earnings at year-
end.
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LUCAS LOCAL SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2001

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (Continued)
K. Long-Term Obligations

Long-term debt is recognized as a liability of a governmental fund when due,
or when resources have been accumulated in the debt service fund for
payment early in the following year. For other long-term obligations, only that
portion expected to be financed from expendable available financial
resources is reported as a fund liability of a government fund. The remaining
portion of such obligations is reported in the general long-term obligations
account group.

Long-term liabilities expected to be financed from proprietary fund operations
are accounted for in those funds.

L. Fund Balance Reserves

Reserved fund balances indicate that portion of fund equity, which is not
available for current appropriation or is legally segregated for a specific use.
Fund balances are reserved for encumbrances, prepayments, materials and
supplies inventory, debt service, tax revenue unavailable for appropriation,
principal endowment, and Bureau of Workers Compensation (BWC) refunds.
Although, the nonexpendable trust fund uses the total economic resources
measurement focus, the fund equity is reserved for the amount of the
principal endowment.  The reserve for tax revenue unavailable for
appropriation represents taxes recognized as revenue under GAAP but not
available for appropriations under State statute. The unreserved portions of
fund equity reflected for the governmental funds are available for use within
the specific purposes of those funds.

M. Interfund Transactions

During the course of normal operations, the District may have numerous
transactions between funds. The most significant include:

1. Transfers of resources from one fund to another fund. The resources
transferred are to be expended for operations by the receiving fund and
are recorded as operating transfers, with the exception of agency funds,
which do not show transfers of resources as operating transfers. The
District made no operating transfers in fiscal year 2001.

-23-



LUCAS LOCAL SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2001

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (Continued)

2. Reimbursements from one fund to another are treated as
expenditures/expenses in the reimbursing fund and a reduction in
expenditures/expenses in the reimbursed fund. Quasi-external
transactions are accounted for as revenues, expenditures or expenses.

3. Short-term interfund loans and accrued interfund reimbursements and
accrued operating transfers are reflected as "interfund loans receivable or
payable". The District had short-term interfund loans receivable and
payable at June 30, 2001.

4. Long-term interfund loans that will not be repaid within the next year are
termed "advances" and are shown as reservations of fund balances on the
combined balance sheet for those funds that report advances to other
funds as assets because they are not spendable, available resources.
The District had no long-term advances receivable or payable at June 30,
2001.

N. Estimates

The preparation of the GPFS in conformity with GAAP requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the
GPFS and accompanying notes. Actual results may differ from those
estimates.

O. Restricted Assets

Restricted assets in the general fund represent cash and cash equivalents
that are restricted in use by State statute. A fund balance reserve has also
been established. See Note 19 for details.

P. Prepayments

Prepayments for governmental funds represent cash disbursements, which
have occurred and are, therefore, not current expendable resources. These
items are reported as fund assets on the balance sheet using the allocation
method, which amortizes their cost over the periods benefitting from the
advance payment. At year-end, because prepayment is not available to
finance future governmental fund expenditures, the fund balance is reserved
by an amount equal to the carrying value of the asset.
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (Continued)

Q. Memorandum Only - Total Columns

Total columns on the GPFS are captioned (Memorandum Only) to indicate
that they are presented only to facilitate financial analysis. Data in these
columns do not present financial position, results of operations, or changes in
financial position in conformity with GAAP. Neither is such data comparable
to a consolidation. Interfund eliminations have not been made in the
aggregation of this data.

NOTE 3 - ACCOUNTABILITY AND COMPLIANCE

A.

Change in Accounting Principle

GASB Statement No. 33, “Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Nonexchange Transactions,” was implemented during fiscal 2001. This

statement pertains to the financial reporting of certain types of revenue
received by the District for which no value is given in return, including derived
tax revenues, imposed nonexchange transactions, government-mandated
nonexchange transactions, and voluntary nonexchange transactions. The
adoption of this statement had no effect on fund balances/retained earnings
as previously reported by the District at June 30, 2000.

NOTE 3 - ACCOUNTABILITY AND COMPLIANCE - (Continued)

B. Deficit Fund Balances

Fund balance at June 30, 2001 included the following individual fund deficits:

Deficit Balance

Special Revenue Funds

Title | $ 100
Local Professional Development 2
Title VI 4
Miscellaneous State Grants 2,921
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NOTE 3 - ACCOUNTABILITY AND COMPLIANCE - (Continued)
B. Deficit Fund Balances — (Continued)

These funds complied with Ohio state law, which does not permit a cash
basis deficit at year-end.

The deficit fund balances in these special revenue funds are caused by
accruing wage and benefit obligations in accordance with GAAP. These
deficits will be eliminated by intergovernmental revenues and other resources
not recognized at June 30.

C. Agency Fund

The following are accruals for the agency fund, which, in another fund type,
would be recognized in the combined balance sheet:

ASSETS
Accounts receivable $20,659
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 183
Pension obligation payable 44

NOTE 4 - EQUITY IN POOLED CASH AND INVESTMENTS

The District maintains a cash and investment pool used by all funds. Each fund
type's portion of this pool is displayed on the combined balance sheet as “Equity
in Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents”. Statutes require the classification of
monies held by the District into three categories:

Active deposits are public deposits necessary to meet current demands on the
treasury. Such monies must be maintained either as cash in the District treasury,
in commercial accounts payable or withdrawable on demand, including
negotiable order of withdrawal (NOW) accounts, or in money market deposit
accounts.
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NOTE 4 - EQUITY IN POOLED CASH AND INVESTMENTS - (Continued)

Inactive deposits are public deposits the Board of Education has identified as not
required for use within the current two-year period of designation of depositories.
Inactive deposits must either be evidenced by certificates of deposit maturing not
later than the end of the current period of designation of depositories, or by
savings or deposit accounts including, but not limited to, passbook accounts.

Interim deposits are deposits of interim monies. Interim monies are those
monies, which are not needed for immediate use, but which will be needed
before the end of the current period of designation of depositories. Interim
deposits must be evidenced by time certificates of deposit maturing not more
than one year from the date of deposit or by savings accounts, including
passbook accounts.

Protection of the District's deposits is provided by the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation (FDIC), by eligible securities pledged by the financial institution as
security for repayment, by surety company bonds deposited with the Treasurer
by the financial institution or by a single collateral pool established by the
financial institution to secure the repayment of all public monies deposited with
the institution.

Interim monies may be invested or deposited in the following securities:

1. United States Treasury Notes, Bills, Bonds, or any other obligation or
security issued by the United States Treasury or any other obligation
guaranteed as to principal or interest by the United States;

2. Bonds, Notes, Debentures, or any other obligations or securities issued by
any federal government agency or instrumentality, including but not limited
to, the Federal National Mortgage Association, Federal Home Loan Bank,
Federal Farm Credit Bank, Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation,
Government National Mortgage Association, and Student Loan Marketing
Association. All federal agency securities shall be direct issuances of
federal government agencies or instrumentalities;

3. Written repurchase agreements in the securities listed above provided that
the market value of the securities subject to the repurchase agreement
must exceed the principal value of the agreement by at least 2% and be
marked to market daily, and that the term of the agreement must not
exceed 30 days;
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NOTE 4 - EQUITY IN POOLED CASH AND INVESTMENTS - (Continued)
4. Bonds and other obligations of the State of Ohio;

5. No-load money market mutual funds consisting exclusively of obligations
described in division (1) or (2) of this section and repurchase agreements
secured by such obligations, provided that investments in securities
described in this division are made only through eligible institutions;

6. The State Treasury Asset Reserve of Ohio (STAR Ohio);

7. Certain bankers’ acceptances and commercial paper notes for a period
not to exceed 180 days in an amount not to exceed 25% of the interim
monies available for investment at any one time; and

8. Under limited circumstances, corporate debt instruments rated in either of
the two highest rating classifications by at least two nationally recognized
rating agencies.

Investments in stripped principal or interest obligations, reverse repurchase
agreements and derivatives are prohibited. The issuance of taxable notes for the
purpose of arbitrage, the use of leverage and short selling are also prohibited.
An investment must mature within five years from the date of purchase unless
matched to a specific obligation or debt of the District, and must be purchased
with the expectation that it will be held to maturity. Investments may only be
made through specified dealers and institutions. Payment for investments may
be made only upon delivery of the securities representing the investments to the
Treasurer or qualified trustee or, if the securities are not represented by a
certificate, upon receipt of confirmation of transfer from the custodian.The
following information classifies deposits and investments by categories of risk as
defined in GASB Statement No. 3, "Deposits with Financial Institutions,
Investments and Reverse Repurchase Agreements."

Deposits: At year-end, the carrying amount of the District's deposits, including
non-negotiable certificates of deposit, was $1,365,230 and the bank balance,
including non-negotiable certificates of deposit, was $1,452,5671. The entire bank
balance was covered by federal depository insurance.

Collateral is required for demand deposits and certificates of deposits in excess
of all deposits not covered by federal depository insurance. Obligations that may
be pledged as collateral are obligations of the United States and its agencies,
obligations of the State of Ohio and its municipalities, and obligations of the other
states.
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NOTE 4 - EQUITY IN POOLED CASH AND INVESTMENTS - (Continued)

Obligations pledged to secure deposits must be delivered to a bank other than
the institution in which the deposit is made. Written custodial agreements are
required.

Investments: Investments are categorized to give an indication of the level of risk
assumed by the entity at year-end. Category 1 includes investments that are
insured or registered or securities held by the District. Category 2 includes
uninsured and unregistered investments for which the securities are held by the
counterparty’s trust department or agent in the Districts name. Category 3
includes uninsured and unregistered investments for which the securities are
held by the counterparty or by its trust department, but not in the District's name.
Investments in STAR Ohio are not categorized as they are not evidenced by
securities that exist in physical or book entry form.

Category Reported Fair
3 Amount Value
Repurchase agreement $127.411 $127,411 $127,411
Investment in STAR Ohio 379,460 379,460
Total investments $506,871 $506,871

The classification of cash and cash equivalents and investments on the
combined balance sheet is based on criteria set forth in GASB Statement No. 9,
“Reporting Cash Flows of Proprietary and Nonexpendable Trust Funds and
Governmental Entities That Use Proprietary Fund Accounting.”

A reconciliation between the classifications of pooled cash and cash equivalents
and investments on the combined balance sheet (per GASB Statement No. 9)
and the classifications of deposits and investments presented above per GASB
Statement No. 3 is as follows:

-29-



LUCAS LOCAL SCHOOL DISTRICT

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2001

NOTE 4 - EQUITY IN POOLED CASH AND INVESTMENTS - (Continued)

Cash and Cash

Equivalents/Deposits Investments
GASB Statement No. 9 $1,872,101 $ ---
Investments of the cash
management pool:
Investment in STAR Ohio (379,460) 379,460
Repurchase agreement (127.411) 127,411
GASB Statement No. 3 $1,365,230 $506,871

NOTE 5 - INTERFUND TRANSACTIONS

The following is a summarized breakdown of the District’s interfund loans
receivable and payable at June 30, 2001:

Interfund Interfund
Loans Receivable Loans Payable

General Fund $22,450 $ ---
Agency Fund ‘

Student Managed Activity --- 22,450
Total $22,450 $22,450

NOTE 6 - PROPERTY TAXES

Property taxes are levied and assessed on a calendar year basis. Distributions
from the second half of the calendar year occur in a new fiscal year and are
intended to finance the operations of that year. Property taxes include amounts
levied against all real, public utility and tangible (used in business) property
located in the District. Real property taxes and public utility taxes are levied after
November 1 on the assessed value listed as of the prior January 1, the lien date.
Assessed values are established by State law at 35% of appraised market value.
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Public utility property taxes are assessed on tangible personal property, as well
as land and improvements. Real property is assessed at 35% of market value
and personal property is assessed at 100% of market value, except for the
personal property of rural electric companies, which is assessed 50% of market
and railroads, which are assessed at 29%.

Tangible personal property taxes attach as a lien and are levied on January 1 of
the current year. Tangible personal property assessments are 25% of true value.
The assessed value upon which the 2000 taxes were collected was $54,451,380.
Agricultural/residential and public utility/minerals real estate represented 73.02%
or $39,760,000 of this total; commercial & industrial real estate represented
2.14% or $1,165,170 of this total, public utility tangible represented 23.47% or
$12,780,150 of this total and general tangible property represented 1.37% or
$746,060 of this total. The voted general tax rate at the fiscal year ended June
30, 2001 was $42.70 per $1,000.00 of assessed valuation for operations and
$1.70 per $1,000.00 of assessed valuation for debt retirement.

Real property taxes are payable annually or semi-annually. If paid annually,
payment is due December 31; if paid semi-annually, the first payment is due
December 31 with the remainder payable by June 20.

The District receives property taxes from Richland and Ashland Counties. The
respective County Treasurers collect property taxes on behalf of the District. The
respective County Auditors periodically remit to the District its portion of the taxes
collected. These tax "advances" are based on statutory cash flow collection
rates. Final "settlements” are made each February and August.

Accrued property taxes receivable represent delinquent taxes outstanding and
real property, personal property and public utility taxes, which became
measurable as of June 30, 2001. Although total property tax collections for the
next fiscal year are measurable, they are not (exclusive of advances) intended to
finance current year operations. The net receivable (total receivable less amount
available intended to finance the current year) is therefore offset by a credit to
deferred revenue. The amount available as an advance, and recorded as
revenue, at June 30, 2001, was $77,785 in the general fund and $1,862 in the
debt service fund.

Taxes available for advance and recognized as revenue, but not received by the
District prior to June 30, 2001, are reflected as a reservation of fund balance for
future appropriations. The District is prohibited, by law, from appropriating this
revenue in accordance with ORC Section 5705.35, since an advance of revenue
was not requested or received prior to the fiscal year-end.
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Receivables at June 30, 2001 consisted of taxes, accounts (billings for user
charged services), interfund loans, accrued interest and intergovernmental grants
and entitlements (to the extent such grants and entitiements relate to the current
fiscal year). Intergovernmental receivables have been reported as “due from
other governments” on the combined balance sheet. All receivables are
considered collectible in full due to the ability to foreclose for the nonpayment of
taxes and the stable condition of State programs and the current year guarantee

of federal funds.

A summary of the principal items of receivables follows:

Amounts

General Fund

Taxes - current and delinquent . $1,887,114

Accounts 7,772

Accrued interest 8,737

Interfund loan 22,450
Special Revenue Funds

Due from other governments 9,319
Debt Service Fund

Taxes - current and delinquent 45,190
Enterprise Funds A

Due from other governments 2,611

NOTE 8 - FIXED ASSETS

A summary of the changes in the general fixed assets account group during the

fiscal year follows:

Balance Balance
July 1, 2000 Increase Decrease June 30, 2001

Land/Improvements $ 48875 $§ --- $ --- $ 48875
Buildings/improvements 3,018,889 --- --- 3,018,889
Furniture/equipment 701,861 112,681 (24,530) 790,012
Vehicles 518,143 54,935 --- 573,078
Total $4,287,768 $167,616  $(24,530) $4,430,854

There was no significant construction in progress at June 30, 2001.
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A summary of the proprietary fixed assets at June 30, 2001 follows:

Furniture and equipment $ 82,104
Less: accumulated depreciation (68,050)
Net fixed assets $ 14,054

NOTE 9 - CONTRIBUTED CAPITAL

Changes in contributed capital for the year ended June 30, 2001, are
summarized by source as follows:

Food Service

Contributed capital, July 1, 2000 $1,500

Current contributions -

Contributed capital, June 30, 2001 1,500

NOTE 10 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS

The District has two long-term debt issues outstanding at June 30, 2001. These
debt issues represent a general obligation bond and an energy conservation
note.

During fiscal year 1998, the District issued a $53,785 energy conservation note
to provide for energy improvements to various District buildings. The primary
source of repayment of this note is through energy savings as a result of the
improvements. This note bears an interest rate of 4.75% and matures on
September 1, 2007.

Payments of principal and interest relating to these liabilities are recorded as
expenditures in the debt service fund. Unmatured obligations are accounted for
in the general long-term obligations account group.
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A. The following is a description of the District’'s general obligation bond and
energy conservation note outstanding as of June 30, 2001:

Interest Maturity Outstanding  Retired  Outstanding
Rate Date July 1, 2000 in 2001 June 30, 2001

General obligation
bond payable  5.50% 12/01/01 $140,000 $(70,000) $ 70,000

Energy conservation
note payable 4.75% 09/01/07 43,027 (5,379) 37,648

$183,027  $(75,379)___ $107,648

B. The following is a summary of the District’s future annual debt service
requirements to maturity for the general obligation bond and the energy
conservation note:

Fiscal Principal on Interest on

Year Ending Bond/Note Bond/Note Total
2002 $ 75,379 $3,610 $ 78,989
2003 5,379 1,426 6,805
2004 5,379 1,167 6,546
2005 5,379 908 6,287
2006 5,379 649 6,028

2007 - 2008 10,753 520 11,273
Total $107,648 $8,280 $115,928
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NOTE 10 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS - (Continued)

C. During the year ended June 30, 2001, the following changes occurred in
liabilities reported in the general long-term obligations account group.
Compensated absences and pension obligations will be paid from the fund in
which the employee is paid.

Balance Balance
July 1, 2000 Increase Decrease June 30,2001

Compensated absences $154,210 $22,868 $ (30,116) $146,962
Pension obligation payable 43,138 47,923 (43,138) 47,923

General obligation bond 140,000 --- (70,000) 70,000
Energy conservation note _ 43,027 --- (5,379) 37,648
Total $380,375 $70,791  $(148,633) $302,533

D. Legal Debt Margin

The Ohio Revised Code provides that voted net general obligation debt of the
District shall never exceed 9% of the total assessed valuation of the District.
The code further provides that unvoted indebtedness shall not exceed 1/10 of
1% of the property valuation of the District. The effects of these debt
limitations at June 30, 2001 are a voted debt margin of $4,873,157 (including
available funds of $42,533) and an unvoted debt margin of $54,451.

NOTE 11 - COMPENSATED ABSENCES

The criteria for determining vested vacation and sick leave components are
derived from negotiated agreements and State laws. Classified employees earn
5 to 20 days of vacation per year, depending upon length of service.
Accumulated unused vacation time is paid to classified employees upon
termination of employment. Administrators who are contracted to work 260 days
in a year are given 15 to 20 days of vacation per year by contract. Any unused
vacation days at the end of the contract are forfeited. The only exception is the
Superintendent who can carry over up to 10 days at the end of his contract, and
the Treasurer who can carry over up to 5 days at the end of her contract.
Teachers do not earn vacation time.
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Administrators, teachers, and classified employees earn sick leave at a rate of 1
and 1/4 days per month. Sick leave may be accumulated up to 220 days. Upon
retirement, payment is made to employees with 10 or more years of service at
the District for 25% of the total sick leave accumulation with a maximum of 40
days payment. '

During fiscal year 1999, the District adopted a one-time exit bonus for all part-
time employees with a minimum of 10 consecutive years of experience with the
District. Part-time employees who elect this exit bonus must retire with the STRS
or SERS. This exit bonus applies only to part-time employees who have not
previously retired from STRS or SERS. Upon retirement, the exit bonus will be
calculated on a formula of 25% of the first 120 days of accrued sick leave. The
exit bonus is calculated using the scheduled daily rate of pay at the time of
retirement. For those part-time who have accrued sick leave beyond 120 days,
the following additional formula will apply:

Accumulated sick Exit bonus shall Total exit
leave be increased by: bonus days

130 - 139 days 1 additional day 31
140 - 149 days 2 additional days 32
150 - 150 days 3 additional days 33
160 - 169 days 4 additional days 34
170 - 179 days 5 additional days 35
180 - 189 days 6 additional days 36
190 - 199 days 7 additional days 37
200 - 209 days 8 additional days 38
210 - 219 days 9 additional days 39

> =220 days 10 additional days 40

The maximum exit bonus days that any employee can earn is forty.
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A. Property, Fleet, and Liability Insurance

The District is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of,
damage to, and destruction of assets; errors and omissions; injuries to
employees; and natural disasters. During fiscal year 2001, the District
retained property insurance coverage in the blanket amount of $13,716,524
with 90% coinsurance, replacement cost endorsement and a $1,000
deductible. Boiler and machinery coverage is also included in with the
blanket coverage in the amount of $5,757,190 with a $1,000 deductible. The
District also has inland marine floaters in the amount of $1,050,000 with a
$250 deductible for coverage of audio visual equipment, two-way radios,
tractors, musical instruments and uniforms.

Vehicles are covered by a policy through Nationwide/Wausau Insurance
Companies, which provides for a $50 deductible for comprehensive and a
$250 deductible for collision. Vehicle liability has a $2,000,000 combined
single limit of liability.

Nationwide/Wausau Insurance Companies also provide general liability
coverage with a $2,000,000 single occurrence limit and an aggregate of
$5,000,000 with no deductible.

B. Employee Dishonesty Bonds
The District carries employee dishonesty bonds for the Treasurer,
Superintendent, and Board President in the amount of $20,000. Also, an
employee blanket dishonesty bond in the amount of $5,000 is provided to
cover all other employees of the District.

C. Worker’'s Compensation

The District participates in the Ohio School Boards Association Workers’
Compensation Group Rating Program (GRP), an insurance purchasing pool
(see Note 2.A.). The GRP’s business and affairs are conducted by a three-
member board of directors consisting of the President, the President-Elect
and the Immediate Past President of the Ohio School Boards Association.
The Executive Director of the OSBA, or his designee, serves as coordinator
of the program. Each year, the participating school districts pay an
enrollment fee to the GRP to cover the costs of administering the program.
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The intent of the GRP is to achieve the benefit of a reduced premium for the
District by virtue of its grouping and representation with other participants in
the GRP. The worker's compensation experience of the participating school
districts is calculated as one experience and a common premium rate is
applied to all school districts in the GRP. Each participant will then either
receive money from or be required to contribute to the "Equity Pooling Fund".
This "equity pooling" arrangement insures that each participant shares
equally in the overall performance of the GRP. Participation in the GRP is
limited to school districts that can meet the GRP’s selection criteria. The firm
of Gates McDonald & Co. provides administrative, cost control, and actuarial
services to the GRP. '

D. Employee Group Life, Medical, Dental, and Vision Insurance

The District provides life insurance and accidental death and dismemberment
insurance to all regular contracted employees through Anthem Benefit
Administrators Inc. in the following amounts: full-time employees $25,000,
administrators $50,000, and part-time grandfathered employees $10,000.

The District has elected to provide a comprehensive medical benefits
package to the employees through a self-insured program. The District
maintains a self-insured internal service fund to account for the finances of its
uninsured risks of loss in this program. This package provides a
comprehensive medical plan with a $275 single and $375 family deductible
($100 single and $200 family deductibles for administrators). A third party
administrator, Anthem Benefits Administrators Inc., located in Columbus,
Ohio, reviews all claims for the medical plan which are then paid by the
District. The District purchases stop-loss coverage of $20,000 per individual
and an aggregate limit of $360,276 from Cox Insurance Group. The total
monthly premium paid into the internal service fund for the medical plan is
$184 for single coverage and $456 for family coverage which is paid out of
the same fund that pays the salary for the employee. The District’'s amounts
are capped by negotiated union contracts and cannot be increased, except
throughout negotiations. The employee monthly portion of the premium is
$18 for single coverage and $46 for family coverage which is withheld from
their biweekly payroll. The employees are responsible for payment of all
claim amounts in excess of the employer capped amounts.
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The District provides dental coverage for its employees on a self-insured
basis through Anthem Benefits Administrators Inc. The total monthly
premium is $28 for single and family coverage. This premium is paid by the
District. Like the medical premium, this amount is also capped by negotiated
union contracts and cannot be raised, except through negotiated agreement.
The employees are responsible for payment of all claim amounts in excess of
the employer capped amounts.

The above employee portions of premiums for medical and dental insurance
are for full-time employees. Grandfathered part-time employees also have
medical and dental insurance benefits.

The claims liability of $37,665 reported in the fund at June 30, 2001, is based
on the requirements of GASB Statement No. 10, "Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Risk Financing and Related Insurance Issues," as amended by
GASB Statement No. 30, "Risk Financing Omnibus," which requires that a
liability for unpaid claims costs, including estimates of costs relating to
incurred, but not reported claims, be accrued at the estimated ultimate cost of
settling the claims. Changes in claims activity for the past two fiscal years are

as follows:
Beginning
Fiscal Year of Year Claims Payments End of Year
2001 $59,905 $175,389 $(197,629) $37,665
2000 89,014 123,381 (152,490) 59,905
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NOTE 13 - SEGMENT INFORMATION - ENTERPRISE FUNDS
The District maintains three enterprise funds to account for the operations of food
service, uniform school supplies and farm operations. The table below reflects,
in a summarized format, the more significant financial data relating to the
enterprise funds of the District as of and for the year ended June 30, 2001.

Food Uniform School Rotary

Service Supplies Farm Total

Operating revenue $129,574 $15,306 $--- $144,880
Operating expenses

before depreciation 155,638 13,128 --- 168,766
Depreciation 2,751 --- --- 2,751
Operating income (loss) (28,815) 2,178 --- (26,637)
Operating grants 19,904 --- --- 19,904
Net income 1,523 2,178 --- 3,701
Fixed asset additions 1,949 --- --- 1,949
Net working capital 14,752 13,592 2,835 31,179
Total assets 47,280 13,592 2,835 63,707

* Total liabilities 18,474 --- --- 18,474

Contributed capital - 1,500 --- --- 1,500
Total equity 28,806 13,592 2,835 45,233
Encumbrances

at 06/30/01 --- 328 --- 328
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A. School Employees Retirement System

The District contributes to the School Employees Retirement System of Ohio
(SERS), a cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan
administered by the School Employees Retirement Board. SERS provides
retirement and disability benefits, annual cost-of-living adjustments, and death
benefits to plan members and beneficiaries. Authority to establish and amend
benefits is provided by Chapter 3309 of the Ohio Revised Code. SERS
issues a publicly available, stand-alone financial report that includes financial
statements and required supplementary information. The report may be
obtained by writing to the School Employees Retirement System, 45 North
Fourth Street, Columbus, Ohio 43215-3634, or by calling (614) 222-5853.

Plan members are required to contribute 9% of their annual covered salary
and the District is required to contribute 14% for 2001; 4.2% was the portion
to fund pension obligations. The contribution rates are not determined
actuarially, but are established by the School Employees Retirement Board
within the rates allowed by State statute. The adequacy of the contribution
rates is determined annually. The District’s required contributions to SERS
for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2001, 2000 and 1999 were $93,301,
$86,340, and $80,370, respectively; 39.58% has been contributed for fiscal
year 2001 and 100% for the fiscal years 2000 and 1999. $56,376,
representing the unpaid contribution for fiscal year 2001, is recorded as a
liability within the respective funds and the general long-term obligations
account group.

B. State Teachers’ Retirement System

The District contributes to the State Teachers’ Retirement System of Ohio
(STRS), a cost-sharing, multiple-employer public employee retirement system
administered by the State Teachers’ Retirement Board. STRS provides
retirement and disability benefits, annual cost-of-living adjustments, and death
and survivor benefits to plan members and beneficiaries. Authority to
establish and amend benefits is provided by Chapter 3307 of the Ohio
Revised Code. STRS issues a publicly available, stand-alone financial report
that includes financial statements and required supplementary information.
The report may be obtained by writing to the State Teachers’ Retirement
System, 275 East Broad Street, Columbus, Ohio 43215-3771, or by calling
(614) 227-4090.
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Plan members are required to contribute 14% of their annual covered salary
and the District is required to contribute 14%; 9.5% was the portion used to
fund pension obligations. Contribution rates are established by the State
Teachers’ Retirement Board, upon recommendation of its consulting actuary,
not to exceed statutory maximum rates of 10 percent for members and 14%
for employers. The District's required contributions to STRS for the fiscal
years ended June 30, 2001, 2000, and 1999 were $245,765, $235,1563, and
$224,723, respectively; 83.46% has been contributed for fiscal year 2001 and
100% for the fiscal years 2000 and 1999. $40,644, representing the unpaid
contribution for fiscal year 2001, is recorded as a liability within the respective
funds.

NOTE 15 - POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

The District provides comprehensive health care benefits to retired teachers and
their dependents through STRS, and to retired non-certified employees and their
dependents through SERS. Benefits include hospitalization, physicians’ fees,
prescription drugs, and reimbursement of monthly Medicare premiums. Benefit
provisions and the obligations to contribute are established by the STRS/SERS
based on authority granted by State statute. Both STRS and SERS are funded
on a pay-as-you-go basis.

The State Teachers’ Retirement Board has statutory authority over how much, if
any, of the health care costs will be absorbed by STRS. Most benefit recipients
pay a portion of the health care cost in the form of a monthly premium. By Ohio
law, the cost of coverage paid from STRS funds shall be included in the
employer contribution rate, currently 14% of covered payroll. For this fiscal year,
the Board allocated employer contributions equal to 4.5% of covered payroll to
the Health Care Reserve Fund. For the District, this amount equaled $82,337
during fiscal 2001.

STRS pays health care benefits from the Health Care Reserve Fund. The
balance in the Health Care Reserve Fund was $3.419 billion at June 30, 2000
(the latest information available). For the year ended June 30, 2000 (the latest
information available), net health care costs paid by STRS were $283.137 million
and STRS had 99,011 eligible benefit recipients.

-42 -



LUCAS LOCAL SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2001
NOTE 15 - POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS - (Continued)

For SERS, coverage is made available to service retirees with 10 or more years
of qualifying service credit, and disability and survivor benefit recipients.
Members retiring on or after August 1, 1989, with less than 25 years of service
credit must pay a portion of their premium for health care. The portion is based
on years of service up to a maximum of 75% of the premium.

For this fiscal year, employer contributions to fund health care benefits were
9.8% of covered payroll. In addition, SERS levies a surcharge to fund health
care benefits equal to 14% of the difference between a minimum pay and the
member's pay, pro-rated for partial service credit. For fiscal year 2001, the
minimum pay has been established at $12,400. The surcharge, added to the
unallocated portion of the 14% employer contribution rate, provides for
maintenance of the asset target level for the health care fund.

The target level for the health care reserve is 150% of annual health care
expenses. Expenses for health care at June 30, 2000 (the latest information
available), were $140.7 million and the target level was $211.0 million. At June
30, 2000 (the latest information available), SERS had net assets available for
payment of health care benefits of $252.3 million and SERS had approximately
50,000 participants receiving health care benefits. For the District, the amount to
fund health care benefits, including surcharge, equaled $78,996 during the 2001
fiscal year.

NOTE 16 - BUDGETARY BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

While reporting financial position, results of operations, and changes in fund
balance is done on a GAAP basis, the budgetary basis, as provided by law, is
based upon accounting for certain transactions on a basis of cash receipts and
disbursements.

The Combined Statement of Revenue, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund
Balances - Budget and Actual - All Governmental Fund Types is presented on
the budgetary basis to provide a meaningful comparison of actual results with the
budget. The major differences between the budget basis and the GAAP basis
are that: '

(a) Revenues are recorded when received in cash (budget basis) as opposed to
when susceptible to accrual (GAAP basis);
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(b) Expenditures are recorded when paid in cash (budget basis) as opposed to
when the liability is incurred (GAAP basis);

(c) In order to determine compliance with Ohio law, and to reserve that portion of
the applicable appropriation, encumbrances are recorded as the equivalent of
an expenditure (budget basis) as opposed to a reservation of fund balance for
governmental funds (GAAP basis).

The adjustments necessary to convert the results of operations for the year on
the budget basis to the GAAP basis for the governmental funds are as follows:

Excess of Revenues and Other Financing Sources
Over/(Under) Expenditures and Other
Financing Uses

Governmental Fund Types

Special Debt Capital
General Revenue Service Project

Budget basis $204,880 $(58,838) $(17,313) $(48,198)
Net adjustment for

revenue accruals 28,796 2,504 400 ---
Net adjustment for

expenditure accruals 3,518 2,823 --- (1,977)
Net adjustment for other

financing sources (uses) 13,104 (472) --- ---
Encumbrances |

(budget basis) 24,739 6,927 --- 4,709
GAAP basis $275,037 $(47,056) $(16,913) $(45,466)
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A. Grants

The District receives significant financial assistance from numerous federal,
state and local agencies in the form of grants. The disbursement of funds
received under these programs generally requires compliance with terms and
conditions specified in the grant agreements and is subject to audit by the
grantor agencies. Any disallowed claims resulting from such audits could
become a liability of the general fund or other applicable funds; however, in
the opinion of management, any such disallowed claims will not have a
material effect on any of the financial statements of the individual fund types
included herein or on the overall financial position of the District at June 30,
2001.

B. Litigation
The District is not currently a party to any legal proceedings.
C. State School Funding Decision

On September 6, 2001, the Ohio Supreme Court issued its latest opinion
regarding the State’s school funding plan. The decision identified aspects of
the current plan that require modification if the plan is to be considered
constitutional, including:

A change in the school districts that are used as the basis for determining the
base cost support amount. Any change in the amount of funds distributed to
school districts as a result of this change must be retroactive to July 1, 2001,
although a time line for distribution is not specified.

Fully funding parity aid no later than the beginning of fiscal year 2004 rather
than fiscal year 2006.

The Supreme Court relinquished jurisdiction over the case based on
anticipated compliance with its order.
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In general, it is expected that the decision would result in an increase in State
funding for most Ohio school districts. However, as of October 31, 2001, the
Ohio General Assembly is still analyzing the impact this Supreme Court
decision will have on funding for individual school districts. Further, the State
of Ohio, in a motion filed September 17, 2001, asked the Court to reconsider
and clarify the parts of the decision changing the school districts that are used
as the basis for determining the base cost support amount and the
requirement that changes be made retroactive to July 1, 2001.

On November 2, 2001, the Court granted this motion for reconsideration. The
court may re-examine any issue upon such reconsideration.

As of the date of these financial statements, the District is unable to
determine what effect, if any, this decision will have on its future State funding
and on its financial operations.

NOTE 18 - GROUP PURCHASING POOL

The District is a member of the Metropolitan Educational Council (MEC)
purchasing group. The following items are purchased through this group
discount program; custodial products, food service products, audio visual buibs,
and certain paper products. The MEC also provides a Self-Help Gas Program
where members save significant amounts on natural gas purchases.
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The District is required by State law to set-aside certain general fund revenue
amounts, as defined by Statute, into various reserves. These reserves are
calculated and presented on a cash basis. During the fiscal year ended June 30,
2001, the reserve activity was as follows:

Capital Budget
Textbooks Acquisition _Stabilization

Set-aside cash balance as of June 30, 2000 $ 839 % 0 $ 54,547
Current year set-aside requirement 87,445 87,445 ---
Elimination of budget stabilization reserve --- --- (54,547)
Current year offsets --- --- ---
Qualifying disbursements (112,372) _ (136,120) ---
Total $(24,088) $ (48,675) $ 0
Cash balance carried forward to FY 2002_$ 0 $ 0o 3 0

Effective April 10, 2001, Am. Sub. Senate Bill 345 amended ORC Section
5705.29 effectively eliminating the requirement for the District to establish and
maintain a budget stabilization reserve. As of June 30, 2001, the School Board
has not taken action to designate these funds for a specific use. Monies
representing BWC refunds that were received prior to April 10, 2001, have been
shown as a restricted asset and reserved fund balance in the general fund since
allowable expenditures are restricted by State statute. All remaining monies
previously reported in the budget stabilization reserve are now reported as
unreserved and undesignated fund balance in the general fund. The District is
still required by state law to maintain the textbook reserve and capital acquisition
reserve.
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Although the District had offsets and qualifying disbursements during the year
that reduced the set-aside amount below zero for the capital acquisition reserve,
this extra amount may not be used to reduce the set-aside requirement for future
years. The negative amount is therefore not presented as being carried forward
to the next fiscal year.

A schedule of the restricted assets at June 30, 2001 follows:

Amount restricted for BWC refunds $19,060
Total restricted assets $19,060
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Independent Auditors' Report on Compliance and on Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting Based on an Audit of General Purpose Financial Statements
Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards

To the Board of Education
Lucas Local School District
Lucas, Ohio 44843

We have audited the general purpose financial statements of the Lucas Local School
District (the District), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2001 and have issued our
report thereon dated November 21, 2001. We conducted our audit in accordance with
generally accepted auditing standards and the standards applicable to financial audit
contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the
United States.

Compliance

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Lucas Local School District's
financial statements are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants,
noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of
financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those
provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an
opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance that are
required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit, we considered Lucas Local School District's internal
control over financial reporting in order to determine our auditing procedures for the
purpose of expressing our opinion on the general purpose financial statements and not to
provide assurance on the internal control over financial reporting. Our consideration of
the internal control over financial reporting would not necessarily disclose all matters in
the internal control over financial reporting that might be material weaknesses. A material
weakness is a condition in which the design or operation of one or more of the internal
components does not reduce to a relatively low level the risk that misstatements in
amounts that would be material in relation to the financial statements being audited may
occur and not be detected within a timely period by empioyees in the



normal course of performing their assigned functions. We noted no matters involving the
internal control over financial reporting and its operation that we consider to be material
weaknesses.

However, we noted certain matters involving the internal control over financial reporting
that we have reported to management of the District, in a separate letter dated November
21, 2001.

This report is intended for the information of the Board of Education, management,

federal awarding agencies and pass-through entities and the Auditor of State. However,
this report is a matter of public record, and its distribution is not limited.

Hoore Steptiens »pple

Akron, Ohio
November 21, 2001




88 East Broad Street
STATE OF OHIO P.O. Box 1140

OFFICE OF THE AUDITOR Columbus, Ohio 43216-1140

Telephone  614-466-4514
JiM PETRO, AUDITOR OF STATE 800-282-0370

Facsimile  614-466-4490

LUCAS LOCAL SCHOOL DISTRICT

RICHLAND COUNTY

CLERK'S CERTIFICATION
This is a true and correct copy of the report which is required to be filed in the Office
of the Auditor of State pursuant to Section 117.26, Revised Code, and which is filed
in Columbus, Ohio.

desan Toubbitt

CLERK OF THE BUREAU

CERTIFIED
JANUARY 22, 2002
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